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CHAPTER I 

I NTRODUC TION 

Soon after the Texas Wa r of Independence and for many 

years thereafter the name of Torrey wa s well known in Texas, 

but today it is all but forgotten. The brothers who bore 

that name came to Texas from the Easte rn Unit ed States as 

young men and won the re spe ct of their fellow Texans not 

only as business men but also for their contributions to the 

settlement and expans ion of the frontier, the security of 

the citizenry, and the early establishment of manufacturing 

in the state. No county, village , city, or cross road bea rs 

the name of Torrey in commemorat ion of these brothers, 

though men have been thus h onored for contributions no 

greater than theirs. Many Texas towns still have the names 

of their first settlers, but the Torreys, who traveled the 

extreme frontier regions and far out into Indian country 

long before the settlers came, have not left their name on 

any land mark. This study offers some belated recognition 

for the part which the Torreys played in frontier Texas. 

The following chapters deal with the careers of four 

of the Torrey brothers--John, David, Thomas , and J ames --and; 

because of his initiative and enterprise and his longe r life 

span, John Torrey receives more attention than the othe r 

three. There were three younger Torreys, but mention of 

them is incidental to the saga of the four upon whom this 
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study concentrates. This thesis makes no pretense at being 

a complete biography of John Torrey and his bro the rs during 

their Texas years but is simply a collection of the deta ils 

of their lives which have been preserved in public record s , 

newspapers, letters, family mementos, documents, and histor­

ical writings. The complete and detailed history of the 

firm of John F. Torrey and Brothers--its business alliances, 

partnerships, profits and losses--is also beyond the scope 

of this project. 

The study first t akes up the arrival and establish­

ment of the brothers in Texas, providing some background 

information and view of their adjustment to frontier life. 

The Torrey Indian Trade as operated by David and John 

Torrey, the adventures of Thomas and James Torrey, and John 

Torrey's New Braunfels yea rs and milling and manufacturing 

interests, follow in that order in the subsequent chapters. 



CHAPTER II 

NEW TEXIA NS 

The history of t he gr a dua l ex pansion of t he popula ted 

a re a of the North America n continent is but the collective 

st ory of t he mi gr a tion of ind i vidua ls l ured by t he promi se 

of t he We st. Texas had it s pl a ce i n t he unfo l ding of Ameri­

ca n frontier history, and s even sons of Conne cticut be came a 

part of t he westward surge of humanity , ea ch pl ay i ng a n 

i mportant role in t he s a ga of t he Texas fr ontier. David, 

John, Thomas , James, Tudar, George, a nd Abe Torrey all ca me 

to Texa s to seek t he ir fort unes . 1 

John F. Torrey, t he f irst of t he brothers to arrive 

in Texas , fitt ed hims elf i nto t he p i one er society a nd wa s 

soon f ollowed by David, Thomas, and Jame s . The f amily 

his tory of these brothers , t heir arriva l and e s tablishment 

in Texa s, and t he sev eral inte re s t s of John Torr ey a l l 

provide a ba ckground of informa tion for t he exam ina tion of 

the Torrey contribution to Texas history. 

The name Torrey ha d either a Norma n French orig in 

from the word tour, meaning tower, or a Gaelic origin from 

t he word torr, meaning hill. Families of th i s name lived in 

English countie s as ea rly a s t he sixteenth century. Records 

indica te t ha t t hey were landed gentry and ye omanry of the 

1John H. Brown, Hi s tory of Texa s fro m 1 685 to 1892, 
· (St.Louis : Be cktold and Compa ny , 1893 ), I I, 278 . 



British Isles. Among the early lines of the family in 

England was that of William Torrey of Combe St. Nicholas, 

Sommersetshire. William Torrey's great grand s on Philip had 

four sons who came to America. William, eldest of the four 

immigrant brothers, brought his two sons, Samuel and 

4 

William, and settled 1n Massachusetts. Louisa Maria Torrey, 

wife of the Honorable Alphonso Taft and mother of William 

Howard Taft was descended from the immigrant William Torrey. 2 

An active and resourceful race, the Torreys have won 

success in various field s , particularly in science, educa­

tion, and the ministry.3 Among those of the na me who fought 

in the War of the Revolution was David Torrey of Massachu­

setts,4 father of J a cob N. Torrey, and grandfather of the 

seven brothers who came to Texas.5 Jacob N. Torrey, who 

served the state of Connecticut as a captain in the militia 

in 1818, 6 married Laura Kilburn on February 12, 

2Media Research Bureau, "The Name and Family of 
Torrey" (Washington D. C.), pp. 2-3. 

3"John Torrey (1796-1873)," Encyclopaedia Americana 
( 1963), XXII, 309; and "Reuben Archer Torrey ( 1856-1928 )," 
ibid., pp . 309-310. 

4Media Research Bureau, £.P.· cit., p.6. 

5Birth Records, Town of Ashford, Warrenville, 
Connecticut. 

6Torrey Family Documents (Mrs. Curtis T. Vaughan, San 
Antonio, Texas), Commission of Jacob N. Torrey as Captain in 
the Connecticut militia, February 25, 1818 . 
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1815. 7 Children of this marriage were David Kilburn, born 

September 6, 1815; John Frink , born April 14, 1817; Thoma s 

Stebbins, born July 27, 1819; J ames Na sh , born J anua r y 3, 

1821; Laura Ann, born April 1, 1824; Mary Eliza bet h , born 

August 26, 1826; Tuda r J a cob, born Septe mber 28, 1828 a nd 

died June 9, 1831; Jacob Tuda r, born January 16, 1831; 

George Bicknell, born March 9, 1833 ;
8
and Abe, born in 1836. 9 

Although there i s some pos s i bility t hat John Torrey 

and his brothers David, Thomas, and James might have come to 
10 Texas even earlier, evidence indica tes that t hey arrived in 

t he new re public soon after the Wa r of Inde pendence, the 
11 

second son, John, le ading the wa y in 1838 , follo wed by the 

eldest, David, in 1839, Thoma s in 1840, and J ames 

7Marriage Records, Town of Ashford, Warrenville, 
Connecticut. 

8 
Birt h Record s , Town of As hford, Warrenville, 

Connecticut. 

9There is no record of Abe's birth in Ashford, but 
the 1860 New Braunfels ce ns us list s him as a ged 24. 

10 John's obitua ry notice found in the Torre y Pa pe r s 
at the University of Texas aver s t hat he came to Texas in 
1835, pa rticipa ted in the Wa r of Independence, and s erved 
on Genera l Sam Houst on' s s t a ff. Jame s Torrey' s l a st words 
before execution by t he Me xica ns i mply t ha t h i s brothers 
we r e in Texas a t t he time of t he Battle of San J a c int o 
(1836). Howev er, John Torrey, in an 1887 int e rview with 
t he editor of t he Ne u- Br a unf els er Ze itung , s aid t ha t he 
came to Texas in 1838 . 

11Erns t Koe big , "Lebens l a uf Sk izze," Ne u- Br aunf e l s e r 
Zeitung, J anua r y 27, 1887 , p . 2 . 
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in 1841. Soon after his arrival, John made the a cquaintance 

of Sam Houston, who, in 1838 , w2 s serving the l a st ye a r of 

his first term as president of the re publ i c. 13David also me t 

and subsequently became closely associate d with Texas' first 

president in politica l, business, a nd Indian a ff a irs.
14 

Upon arrival i n Texas, John e s tablished hims elf in 

Houston, a city as n ew as was t he re public. He le ad his 

brothers not only to Texa s, but into busine s s als o, for the 

merchandising firm in wh ich David, Thomas, and John sha red 

intere s t was called John F. Torrey a nd Brothers . So young 

wa s t he city of Hous ton a t t h is time that the Torrey 

brothers built t he fir s t frame h ouse there. This s mall 

building wa s used a s a tra ding post for Indians and was 

l ocated on the nor t h s i de of Preston Stree t near wha t is now 

t he east end of the Preston Street bridge. 15 

But John was never one to limit himself to a single 
16 

enterprise. He a lso fo l lowed, in 1840 at least, the trade 

12John H. Brown, loc. cit. 
13 

Koebig , loc. cit. 
14 Walter P . Webb (ed.), et al., The Hand book of Texa s 

(Aus tin: The Texas St a te HistoricalAssoc iation , 1952 ), II , 
790. 

15s. O. Young , A Thumbna il His tory of t he City of 
Hous ton Texas fr om I ts Founding in 1836 to the Ye a r 1912 
(Houst on : Rein and Sons Co mpany , 1912 ), p . 44. 

16 7 Telegr aph a nd Te xas Reg i s t er [ Houst on~, J ul y 1, 
1840. 



of wa t chmake r, which he had learned in Oonnecticut . 17The 

Torre y business ventures we r e varied . Of gre a t i mp orta nce 

in Texas history were the trading houses founded a long t he 

India n frontie r by David and John and t he ea r ly manufac ­

turing proj ects on the Comal with which John wa s c oncerned , 

both of wh ich will be presented more fully in following 

cha pters . Also indica tive of t he energy and versatility of 

John Torrey we r e the severa l lesse r and shorter- lived 

commercial proje cts in wh i ch he dealt . 

From 1840 to 1844 the John To r rey J ewelry and Fancy 

Go ods Store on Houston's Ma i n Street offered the Houston 

sho ppers such luxury it ems as j ewelry, books, American and 

English periodicals ( by the year or single co py), station-
18 a r y, 11 fancy good s ," s pecta cle s , and hardware. At the same 

time the Torre y trading houses , first in Houston , t hen 

further out on t he f r ontier , ca tered to the ne eds of the 

uncivilized red man with such wares as tobacco, calic o, 
19 blankets , and be ads . 

17 Koebig , loc. cit. 

18Tel egra ph a nd Texa s Regi s ter [Houston], January 
12, 1841, p . 3 , col . 2 ; a nd Texas National Re gister 
[ Wa s hington , Texa s] , De ce mber 28 , 1844, p . 32 , col . 1 . 

8 

19Letter f r om Sam Houston to Ste phen Z. Hoyle, April, 
1843, in Amelia w. Williams and Eu~e ne c. Barker ( eds . ), The 
Writings of Sam Hous ton 1813-1863 (Aus tin: The Univers ity of 
Texa s Pre ss , 1 943) , III, 350 . 



Tor rey and Br others entered int o a co- partner ship in 

the J . C. Spence r Company of Robinson Count y and, in 1846 , 
20 

dissolved this all iance . In 1844 the fi r m furn ished Prince 

9 

Ca r l of Sol ms - Br aunfels with sabe r s and ot he r weapons for 

the Adelsve r ein , an association intended to prot e ct and 

f acilita te German settlement in Texas , and contra ct ed with 

Baron von Meusebach , a repre sent a tive of the organ ization, 

to provision and transport German i rmn i gr ants fr om t he coa st 

inland , thus assisting in the establishment of New Braunfels 

in 1845 . This transaction took John Torrey to New Braunfel s 

f or the first time . He later made tis home there for many 
21 yea r s a nd bega n the fir s t indus try on the Coma l . 

Dur ing his ea rly ye a rs in Texas (1838 to 1849) John 

also had time to make numerous trips over the sta te for t he 

purposes of business , plea sure, and service to the re public 
22 

and even traveled t o California in 1849 . While it wa s David 
23 

who ma de the buying trips ba ck Eas t, John made trips by 

20Tele graph and Texas Register [Houston], January 7, 
184 6 , p • 3 , CO 1. 1 • 

21 K b. 1 it oe ig, _.Q.£ . _c_. 
22 Koebig , loc . cit . 

23Letter from Torrey and Br othe r s to Maj or T. G. 
Western, July 26 , 1845, in Dorman H. Winfre y ( ed . ), Texas 
Indian Pape rs , 1844- 1845 (Austin : Texas State Libra r y , 
1960 ), p . 302 ; and Webb ( ed . ), et al . , loc . c it . 

1 0 -1'711 
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24 

steamer in 1841, 1842 , 1844 , and 1845 between Houston and 

Galveston, ordering goods, seeing to shipment s and attending 

to business at the Galveston customs house. 25 

In the year 1843 John Torrey went with a n I ~dian 

commission dee p i nt o I ndian territory to bid the hostil e 
26 

Comanches come to a peace council. On another occasion he 

took the time to combine business with pl easure. Hamilton 

P . Bee recalled that in the ea rly ye a r s Torre y ' s Tavern 

once stood on the site of the present town of San Marcos, 

and there John Torrey , " tha t old Texas hero, 11 kept hotel 

under a tree for some time on two pounds of cra cke rs, a box 

of sardines , and a bottle cf wh iskey. At night his guests 

reclined under the tree and were protected fro m tarantulas, 

centipedes , and poisonous reptiles by the host's cabras , or 

goats, wh ich Bee said , wa rd ed off such pests . This rus tic 

tavern and hotel was an e~te r taining pr oject , and, Bee 

recalled, John r an it "Youst like h-ll . 1127 

24Telegraph and Texas Regist er [Houst on], Dece mber 8; 
1841, p . 3 , col . l; Telegra ph and Texas Regist er, Novembe r 
1 6 , 1842 , p . 3 , col. 2 ; Telegr aph and Texas Regis t er , 
December 7, 1842, p . 3 , col. 2 ; and e l egrauh and Texas 
Register , Nove mbe r 6 , 1844, p . 3 , col . 1 . 

251etter from Torrey and Brothers to Thomas G. 
Weste rn, September 1, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), £12.· 
Cit • , p • 345 • 

26 
Koebig , lac . c it . 

27Dallas Herald , April 3 , 1875, p . 2 , col. 4 . 
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A more significant ev ent in the history of this 

Cent r a l Texas t own found John Torrey again as witI'-ess . On a 

business tr ip fro m New Br aunfels to t he t r ad ing pos t on t he 

upper reache s of the Brazos , Torre y s pent the n i ght of July 

24 , 1846 , on the San Ma rcos Rive r i n the camp of a conpany 

of r angers , stationed there to prot ect severa l f amilies who 

ha d just arrived with their wagonloa ds of belongings to 

found a new s ettlement . Torrey 's companion on the trip , 

Dr . Fe rdinand va n Roemer of Germany, observed of the s ite : 

In fact , a more a dvantageous and pleasant pl a ce for 
se t t l ement could not be imagined than this par k like 
little pra irie , sur r ound ed on one side by t he forest 
fringing the San Marco s and on the other by t he ~~eep 
hill s , the beginn i ng of the h igher hill country . 

Dr . Roe me r conside red hims elf fortuna t e to have the 

companionship of Torrey , who was persona l ly acquainted with 

all t he conditions of the c ountry and t he pe culia r ities of 

t he var ious Indian tribe s . On t his horseba ck journey along 

t he f r inge s of the settlements John Torre y did n ot cho ose a 

dir ect r oute to t heir destina tion , but traveled a roundabout 

course , making stops and s id e trips to at te nd to busine s s . 

The trip was of sev er a l weeks duration , and Torre y made 

bus ine ss stops in Bast ro p , a t a f a r m nea r Ca ldwe ll , and in a 

set tlement ca lled Boonvil le . Torrey was , ind e ed , wel l 

28os wald Mueller (trans . ), Roemer ' s Texas (San 
Antonio: Standa rd Print ing Company , 1935 ) , p . 182 . 
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a cquainted with the country and also with the settlers ,;-rhom 

they met along the way . 

From San Marc os the pa ir set out for Bastro p , travel ­

ing northwa r d until they had cros s ed the Rio Bl anco, then 

t urning somewhat eastward . Afte r a j our ney of a bout fifteen 

miles they campe d a t a spo t known a s Alligator Hole , but 

discovered that the real threat of t he s pot was not from 

alligators but mosquitos . Torre y , who traveled entir ely 

unarmed , had no fe a r of t he r ed man and did n ot hesitate to 

kindle a campfire de s pite his companion ' s a pr ehens ion that 

it might a ttra ct s ome wande ring Ind i ans . De pend ing entirely 

upon his f a miliarity with most of the tribes which tra ve led 

the borders of the settlements for h is prote ction , Torre y 

felt so secure i n their friend shi p tha t he even s a id he 

wished there had be en Indians about fro m whom he mi ght have 

secured venis on to supple ment their meage r mea l . 

After Bas t r op business took the travelers to 

Ca ldwell , wh ich Roe mer de s cribed as being without particula r 

a ttra ctions and re puted to be an unhealt hful place . Torrey 

stopped to buy beef cattle f rom a wea lthy f a r me r, a Mr . 

Porter , whose f a r m was located a fe w miles fro m Caldwe ll . 

Port er ha d five hundred head of ca ttle which he price d at 

two cents a pound , leaving the problems of their transporta ­

tion to the buye r. 

Othe r business neces sitating a side trip to a 
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settlement called Boonvi lle took t hem some t went y mil es 

s outh of Whee lock ' s set t l ement , loca t ed in the vicinity of 

Fr anklin in Robertson County . This trip led pa s t a deposit 

of petrified wood , 29which i s a l s o mentioned in an a cc ount 

of a t r ip to Torrey ' s Tr a ding House mad e by Dr . John 

"\vash ington Lockha rt . 3° Following t h e busine ss stop in 

Boonv ill e , Torrey and his companion backtracked to Wheelock , 

t hen r esumed t he i r jour ney to the post . 

On t he falls of t he Brazos , s omewhere in the vicinity 

of the town of r-la r l in i n Falls County, there was a t one time 

a hamlet with t he colorfu l name of Bucksnort . There the t wo 

l odged over night with a se t t l er wh om Torrey had known in 

former days . Their host, wh o had once be en a man of means , 

could offer the m but simple fare because he had been r uined 

by gambling on h orse r a ces , a v er y po pula r sport i n this 

spa rsely se ttl ed count r y . 

A short jour ney fro m Bucksnort brought t he wayfa r e r s 

to the trading house . Torrey and h i s guest stayed there fo r 

a few days in the company of a Torrey agent , an Ind i an wh os e 

job it was to bea t the pelts taken i n trade in orde r to rid 

them of inse cts , a government employed gunsmith who re pair ed 

29 I bi d . , pp . 182 - 189 . 
30Jo nnie 1 . Wallis , Si xty Years on the Brazos. ~~e 

Life and Lett ers of Dr . John Wash inton Lockha r t (Los 
Ange les : Private l y Prin t ed, 1930 , p . 111 . 
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the India ns ' s weapons, and two Mexican boys , seven and n ine 

yea r s of age , wh o had been r ansomed from t heir Comanche 

captors by the owne r s of the pos t . They dined on buffalo 

mea t, smoked buffa lo tongue , bacon , honey and bread , 

conside r ed in this out er f ringe of c ivilization to be the 

choic est food . Piles of buffal o hides made excellent 
31 

beds . 

John Torrey and his brothers had come from the East 

a nd adapted themse lves to f r ont i er life . It was David and 

John Torrey wh o were pr imarily responsibl e f or the Indian 

trade . Thomas and James To1rey d ied ea r ly . Thes e 

Connecticut Yankees fi r s t es t ablished the firm of Torrey and 

Brothers i n Houston , then ex panded i t to include the trade 

with t he Indians o~ the ve r y edge of c ivilization . 

31Muell er, £.P_ . c it ., pp . 190-195 . 



CHAPTER III 

THE I NDIAN TRADE 

The f irm of Torrey and Brothers dealt extensively in 

the I ndian t r a de for approxima tely ten yea r s --f ro m t he time 

of John Torre y 's a rriva l in Houst on in 1838 unt il 1848 when 

t hey so l d t he maj or trading house to George Bar na r d . The 

To r reys moved furt he r west , and David Torrey began to ope n 

up a new trade with t he Apa ches , but in 1849 he was k illed 

by a band of Mescaleros . Af t er that time John Tor rey 

tur ned his attention priilla r ily to his milling pro je cts on 

the Comal . The Torr ey Indian trade coincided with the tifile 

during which the Republ ic of Texas dealt with the matte r of 

I ndian a ffairs and t he uncerta i n pe r i od i mmedia tely fo l l ow­

i ng a nnexation a t the end of 1845 , when the r e l a tive l y 

stable I ndian relations a~h i eve d under Sam Houst on's policy 

of pea ce , fri endshi p , and comme r ce was j e opa r d iz ed by the 

change in gove r nme nt . At Hous ton's invita tion, the Torreys 

established a trading house on the Br az os which played an 

i mportant part in t he i mpl ement a tion of his I nd i an po licy . 

The examina tion of . the Torrey Indian trade will concentrate 

on th is Br a zos post and will include an investiga tion of the 

na t ure of this busine ss and of its s i gn i ficance to the 

pacifica tion of t he I nd i a ns . 

The trad ing post established on t he Br az os , or more 

accur ately on Tehaucana Cre ek , a t ributar y of the Bra zos , 
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was t he most i mp orta nt one , but t he Torreys a l s o had severa l 

othe r pos t s a:ong t he Indian f r ontie r . No t al l were i n 

ope r a tion a t t~e s ame t i me , and loca tions of the ~ inor posts 

or br anche s we re changed to me et the needs of convenience 

and pr ofit . The Tor reys began t heir India n trade in 
1 

Houston , but a f te r the pa r tia l tre a ty of 1842 , followed by a 

gene r a l trea t y in 1843 , t he I nd i ans we r e pr ohibited f r om 

c oming wit h i n the se t t l ements . The To rrey Com?any i n 

Houston s erved as t he s uppl y cente r fo r the posts with goods 
2 purchased in Bos ton and New Yor k . As ea r ly as 1842 the 

Torre ys ope r ated a t r ading house on the Bosque Ri ver. 3 Late r 

t he ~e we re trading houses a t Austin , San A~t on i o , New 
4 

Br aunfel s , and Frede r i cksbur g . The Torreys a l so had br anch 

stor es on the Navasota Rive r and at the f a lls of the Br azos . 

Geor ge Bar na rd l ocated the Nevas ota br anch f or t he To r reys 

i n 1843, and John Torrey ha d establ i shed the San Ant onio 

7 
-s . O. Young , A Thu~bnail Hi st ory of the Ci t y of 

Hous t on Texas f r om Its Founding in 1836 to the Ye a r 1912 
(Houston : Re in and Sons Company , 1912) , p . 44 . 

2Walte r P . Webb ( ed . ), e t al . , The Handbook of Texas 
(Aust i n : The Texas State Historical Association , 1952) , Il , 
7 91. 

3nr aft on Gover I'-ment, ~ebr ua r y 24 , 1842 , in Dorman H. 
Wi nfrey ( ed . ) , Texas I ndia n Pa pers, 1825- 1843 (Austin : Texas 
State Libr ary , 1960) , p . 125 . 

4
John K. St r ecke r, Chronic l es of George Barnard 

(Waco : The Baylo r Bulletin , 1928 ) , XXXI , 24 , a nd Wa l te r P . 
Hebb (ed . ) , et al . , loc . cit . 
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store by 1844 and the New Br aunfel s one in 184 5 , s oon a ft e~ 

the fir st settlers had a rrived there fro m Ger many . 5 Torr ey 

a ppa r ent l y c onducte d the San Anton io sto r e inde pendently 

dur ing the years 1844 and 1845 , but afte r tha~ time r eceipts 

f r om that store a r e signed for the compa ny . Marcus A. 

Trumble was a ssistant a t the Sa n Antonio po s t in 184 6 a nd 

1847 , and W. A . Andress ,,-as in cha r ge of the Houston store 
6 

fo r David To rrey in 1845 . 

The Tehauca na pos t , so~etimes r efe rred to as Post 

Numbe r Two , t he trad ing house on the Br a zos or on Tra ding 

House Cr eek , or simp l y a s Torrey ' s t r ading house , was 

e s t a blished ea rly in 1844 under t he law of the r e public . 7 

Be ca use of i ts offic ial r e.c ognition , this post was know-n f a r 
8 

and wide on t he f rontier as Torrey's tra d i ng house . Accord -

ing to a l aw of J a nuary 14 , 1843 , the Republi c of Texas was 

to establish a line of tra d i ng posts which were to ma r k a 

t empor a ry line between the whites and the Indians . The 

treaty c onclud ed with t he Ind i ans at Bir d 1 s Fort in 1843 

pr ovided t hat t r ading h ouses to supply the needs of the 

5oscar Haas , "John Torre y Figured in Loca l Wart ime 
Econo:nic St r uggle , " New Br a unfels He rald , Dece mbe r 11, _962 ; 
and Stre cker, l oc. c it. 

6
strecke r , loc . cit. 

7 St r ecker, loc . cit . 
8

webb (ed . ), e t a l . , l oc . cit . 
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India ns would be es t ablished at t he Cl ear Forks of the 

Tr in i ty , a t Comanc he Peak on the Br az os , and a t the Old San 

Saba mi ss ion . The Torrey post on t he Br az os was the only 

s uccess f ul at te mpt at carrying out this plan , and i t was 

a l most a hundr ed miles short of Comanche Peak . 

Sa~ Hous ton wr ot e to Mess r s . To r rey and Brothers on 

De cembe r 23 , 1843 , i nfor ~ing them that at the f a l ls of the 

Bra zos t he r e we r e many Indians who had c ome do rn t o t r ade , 

bring i ng quantities c~ pelts and some of them ev en specie . 

Houston pointed out that it was an excellent oppo r tunity t o 

es t ablish a go od t r ade , ur3ed them to send i mmediately the 

mos t i mpo r tant i tems of t r aie , such as powde r, l ead , and 

blanke t s , and advised them t o es t ablish themselv es at the 

f a lls t empora r i l y unt i l t hey c ould e r ect a trad i ng house at 
9 a loca tion mo r e conveni ent to t he trade . Howeve r, t he 

Torreys we r e no t prepar ed t o send a sh i pment of goods to t he 

f a lls i mmed i a t e ly , and Houston ' s pr i vate se cre t a r y , W. D. 

Mi l l e r , c ommunicated wi t h t hem on the matte r again on 

De cembe r 30 : 

Hi s Ex cel l ency ea r nes t ly wishes , the r efor e , 
that you should make eve r y possible exertion to 
have goods at the point of t r ade in as short a 
pe ri od as you suggest -- t ha t is , within forty days . 
I f this shoul d not be the case , His Excelle~cy 
believes you wil l not only lose much , but what i s 
of mor e consequence , t hat the d i sappo i ntment of 
the Ind i ans i n t h is r espect will prejudice the 

9Executive Re cor d Book (Aus t in : Texas State Libra ry) , 
No . 40 , p . 2 91 . 
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efforts of the Government in confirming the pea ce 
a lready es tablished . By all means use all 
expedition . It i s highly i mportant . 10 

The traders requested a license , and Houston re plied on 

Janua ry 8 , 1844 , promis ing to forwa rd a license to t hem at 

the first opportun ity . The firm made a bond in the sum of 

ten t housand dollars as the l aw r equired and received a 

license da ted Dec ember, 1843 , which authorized them to 

establish a pos t on t he Brazos II above the line designated by 

l aw as the boundary be tween Ind i ans and Whit es " and to trade 

with tr.e I nd i ans in "all goods , wa r es , and me rchandize not 

proc. i bited by l aw . 11 11 

W~ether t he Torr eys arrived with trade goods in time 

to satisfy the Indians at t he falls or not , no s erious 

damage to the peace resulted , for in t he year 1844 , at t he 

newly established Torrey trading house on t he Brazos , Texas 

effected a t~eaty Khich included even t he Comanches , who had 

not parti c ipa : ed in the previous year's treaty . The conven­

i ent l oca ~ion for the trading house prov ed to be on 

Te~~ucan· Cre ek near an old Indian council ground , about 

l ~ 
~ULetter to Mess rs . Torrey and Brothers, Decembe r 30 , 

1843 , in A.celia v-.-illiams a nd Eugene C. Barker ( eds . ) , The 
Writings of Sa~ Houst on 1813- 18 63 (Austin : The University 
of exas Pr ess , 1943) , IV , 232 . 

11A Lic ense to t he Torrey Brothe r s to Es t ablish a 
Tr ad i ng House on t he Braz os, in Amelia Williams and Eugene 
C. Barker ( eds . ) , 2.£ · c it 9 VIII, 457 . 
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seven mi les southwest of t he pres ent city of Wn c c . 1 2 

Torrey !s trading hous e , with i t s off i cia l sta t us , 

enjoyed a near CT onopoly in t he I ndian t r ad e i n Texas . At 

leas t thr ee times licenses we re is s ued for the establishment 

of a post on t he Trinity River , t ~e fi r s t tc A. G. Kll.::oell 

d 1 · V G 13 ' ~bl ' h ' an ewis • r e en , wno never e s ~a _1s.eQ a post . Ki ::: bel l , 

on Novembe r 10 , 1844 , r el inquished ~is l icense t o No r man 

Cha tfield . Chatfield a nd a partne r named Kennedy r ece i ved a 
1 1-1 

lic ense for a Tr i n it y post , 'b'J.t they t oo f a ile d. -t.o c2. r ry 

out this pl an . A thir d attempt occurred in 1845 , ~hen 

Mathias Tr avis wa s lic ense d to oper a te a t r ad ing house on 

t he Tr inity15and h i s partne r I . C. Spence we nt so f a r as t o 

c onst r uct a build i ng16and , in July of that year, to submit 

an invo i ce , as pr es cribed by l aw , fo r so~e s i x hundr ed 

1~JohJi H_. Brown , tiis~ _of_ T~.%,~ f r om 1§52..5 tQ 189~ 
(St. Louis : Becktold and Compa . y , 18931 ; II , 2b2 . 

13Exe cutive Record Bo ok (Aust i n : Tex~s Stat e 
Libr a r y) , No . 40 , p . 279 . 

14Relinquishment of Lic ense of A. G. Ki mb el l , 
Nove mber 10 , 1844 , in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed . ) , Texas I ndian 
Papers . _844- 1245 (Aus tin : Texas State Libr a r y , 1960 ), 
p . 132 : - ~ett er fr om T. G. Weste r n to Anson Jones , 
December 2~ , 1844 , I b i d ., p . 156 . 

15c er tifica t i on cf Mathias Travis to Operate a 
Tr ad ing House , June 4 , 1845 , Ibid ., p . 2 62 . 

161etter f r om I . c. Spence ta T. G. Western , 
September 9 , 1845 , Ibid ., pp . 356- 357 . 
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dolla rs worth of goods . 17This attempt was also doomed to 

f a ilure . The post was never firmly enough established to 

warrant sta tioning an India n agent there, and t he names of 

tra ders Travis or Spence do not a ppea r am 0ne the Te xas 

Indian Faners after Se ptember of 1845. I n 1846 Torre y ' s was 

aga in t he only place authorized by t he government where 

India ns could trade . 18 

Torrey's trading house s to od in a ~o s t oak grove on a 

high, pebble -covered hi l l overl ooking t he forested botto~ of 
10 

Tehaucana C::-e ek . -'The pos t was some t wo miles from the 

Br a zos and cons isted of six or seven houses built of rough, 

unhewn logs in t he simpl e manne::- customa ry to the frontier . 

· The largest of t he houses held the pe lts taken in trade , and 

another contained goods for which t he India ns bartered their 

pelt s . The re ma ining houses served as qua rters for the men 
20 who lived at t he post . There we re also corrals for t he 

21 
l a r ge supply of live stock kept at the post . The houses 

17 Tra ding House No . 1 Invoice of Goods Introduced by 
Mathias Trav is through Isaa c c. Spence , July 10 , 184 5, 
I bid . , pp . 275- 277 . 

18 Oswald Mue ller (tra ns . ) , Roemer's Texa s (San 
Antonio : Sta ndard Pr i nting Company, 1 935 ), p . 182 . 

1 9J onnie L . Wallis, Sixty Ye a r s on the Bra zos, The 
Life and Letters of Dr. John Washington Lockha rt (Los 
Angel es : Privately Printed , 1930 ), p . 112 . 

20 
Mueller , ~ - cit ., pp . 192 - 194 . 

21wallis, 2...£• cit., p . 114 . 
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were not surrounded by palisa des or any other protective 
22 enclosure. Settlers at Bucksnort, located at t he f a lls of 

the Brazos, about a day's journey from the tra ding house, 

took the precaution of arrang ing their houses with the 

windows and doors opening into an inner court so that they 
23 might better defend themselve s , but t he tra der's sa fety 

de pended u pon his usefulne s s and even nece s sity to the 

Indians. The wild Indians, in fe a r or otherwise influenced 

by the friend l y tribes, suffered the trading hous e to 
24 

exist. Occasionally even the hostile I ndia ns would come to 

the post to trade, pretending to be of a fri endly tribe, but 

they were always v ery sly a nd on their guard. If Torrey 

recognized t hem , he never gave a ny i ndica tion, but carried 

on t he trading normally, for to a l a r m t hem would have cost 

him h i s lif e. In such a bus i ness t he good-will of t he 

custome r was all-important, and Torrey ga i ne d t he friendship 

and res pect of the Indians by treating t hem kindly and 
25 dealing fairly with t hem. 

The trading post was subject to regula tion and 

supervision by the Indian a gency. It wa s necessary for the 

22 
Mueller, .£I2.• cit., p. 192. 

23 
Ibid ., p. 190. 

24 Wallis, .£I2.• c it ., pp. 117-119. 

25wallis, .212.• cit., p. 119. 
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traders to submit complete, periodic invoices of all 

merchandise shi pped to the trading house in compliance with 

section ten of the 1843 law under which the post was 

licensed. 26The government's purpose in authorizing the 

establishment of Indian trading posts was to help maintain 

friendly relations with the Indians. Therefore one of the 

duties of the Indian agent stationed at the post was to 

supervise the trading to see that the Indians were dealt 

with fairly and, moreover, that they were satisfied with 

27 their treatment. ' 

Although there was appa rently no question of the 

honesty of the Torreys, early in 1845 some of the Indian 

cus tome rs at the tra ding house began to complain that prices 

were too h i gh . Government agents adjusted the prices to 
28 satisfy the red men. Red Bear and other I ndians de s cend ed 

upon Washington on Janua ry 2, 1845, s eeking to trade there 

and complaining of prices at Torrey's. The Supe rintendent 

26Letter fro m T. G. Wes tern to L. H. Williams , Ma y 
274 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Te xas Indian Papers , 
18 4-1845 (Austin: Texas State Library, 1960), p . 255. 

271etter from T. G. Western to Benjamin Sloa t and 
L. H. Williams, January 4, 1845, Ibid., pp . 160-161 ; and 
Lette r f r om T. G. Western to L. H:wflliams, April 29 , 
1845, I bid., p. 225. 

28 Letter fro m Ste phen T. Slater to T. G. Western, 
December 25, 1844, Ibid., p. 157; and Letter from T. G. 
Wes tern to L. H. Williams, April 29, 1845, Ibid., p. 225. 



of Indian Affairs, Major T. G. Western, indicated his 

disapproval: 

their [the Indians] introduction into the Settlements 
cannot be tolerated--it must be prevented by the 
Agents it is in violation of law and of existing 
treaties , Subversive of order expensive to the 
Government and v ery annoying--no indian must be 
permitted to come below the trading house except 
on Publ ic Service or when sent for by the Govt.

29 and then not without a passport from an Agent--

Western bes t owed gifts upon the Indians to soothe them and 

sent them ba ck to Torrey's to trade. 30To remedy the 

situation he wrote John Torrey, asking his cooperation in 

the matter : 

It would be gratifying to the Govt. to know that 
your ins tructions to your Agents at your Trading 
House were Such as to afford every facility to the 
Trading Indians Compatible with your interests as 
re ga rd s the prices of Goods etc. So as to render 
them content ed and prevent further Clamor on that 
Subject- - They will not under any circumstances be 
permitted to come below the Trading house and it 
is confidently hoped that Strict Just31e will be 
meeted [sic] out to them there ..•• 

The Torrey employee , George Barnard, managed the 

Tehaucana post fo r the Torrey Company, 32and in 1849 he 

29Letter from T. G. Western to Benjamin Sloat and 
L. H. Williams, January 4, 1845, Ibid., p. 160. 

30 Ibid. 
31Letter from T. G. Western to · John F. Torrey, 

January 3, 1845, Ibid., p. 159. 

32 It is possible that Barna rd was a stockholder in 
the trading company , buying in either prior to the estab­
lishment of the Tehaucana pos t or in later years. John K. 

24 
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bought the post, paying $9,500, or approximately one-half 

the cost of the total amount of stock invoiced for the year 

of sale. 33Like the Torreys, Barnard came from Connecticut. 

He was born in Hartford in 1818 and arrived in Texas in 
34 1839. In the early forties Barnard was a clerk for the 

Torreys in Houston. 35Both Barnard and Thomas Torrey were 
36 

members of the Santa Fe Expedition. 

Barnard, whose personal accounts reveal him to have 

Strecker, in his "Chronicles of George Barna rd" says that 
Barnard, while recuperating in Houston after his relea s e as 
a Santa Fe prisoner, met David and John Torrey and that 
Barnard, Sam Houston, and others bought interests in the 
Torrey company with the prospect of establishing posts along 
the frontier, but later in the "Chronicle s " Strecker says 
that Barnard and the Torreys were schoolmates. The business 
alliance which Strecker be l ieves existed among Barnard, 
Torreys, Houston, and ot hers is substantiated by deduction 
rather t han evidence. Sam Houston's s igna ture on several 
receipts ma de out t o Indians for pel ts in 1846 and 1847 from 
the Torreys 1 indicates to Strecker tha t Houston was a 
stockholder. In the case of Barnard he points out tha t there 
are business agreements from the Tehaucana post signed for 
Torrey and Company with Ba rnard 1 s name in parenthesis or 
simply "George Barnard, Trading Post Number 2." However, 
Roe mer, who visited the trading house in 1846, in naming 
those persons living at t he post, spoke of "an agent in the 
employ of the Torrey brothers who knew how to trade with the 
Indians," but said nothing of a partner or business 
associate. 

33 Strecker, 2.12.· cit., p. 24. 
34 

Noel M. Loomis, The Texan Santa Fe Pioneers 
(Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1958), p. 204. 

35 
. Dallas Herald, August 7, 1869, p. 3, col. 3. 
361oomis, 2.12.• cit., pp. 204, 251. 



26 

been something of a dandy, must have provided quite a 

contrast in appearance to the Indians, frontier farme rs, 

and Texas Rangers, who were trading post customers. The 

dashing Texas Rangers, as described by Roemer, were "wild 

rough fellows, sons of settlers who had exchanged the work 

of the field for a time for the irregular life of a 

soldier." 37Barnard wore silken underwear, and, while he sold 

"fine dress coats" to frontier f a rmers and substantial 

plantation owners for eight and ten dollars ea ch, he was 

paying Lockwood and Dubois on Broadway, New York, thirty­

five dollars each for his dress coats and twenty dollars for 

his business coa ts, seven-fifty to nine dollars for his 

fancy, silk ve s t, and from ten to fifteen dollars a pair 

for cashmere trousers. 38 

Barnard's fellow resident at the post was the Indian 

agent, whose duty it was to supervise the trading, keep 

himself and his superiors informed of the location and 

disposition of t he various tribes for which he was respon­

sible, a nd take steps to rectify any situation which might 

threaten the peace, either a mong the Indian tribes or with 

the white settlers. During 1844 Benjamin Sloat was the 

Indian Agent ass igned to the post. L. H. Williams replaced 

37 Mue l ler, .£:2.· cit., p. 183. 

38 Strecker, .£:2.• cit., p. 25. 
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39 Sloat in April of 1845. The Indian agents were assisted in 

their peacemaking ventures by some friendly Delawares, in 

particular, John Conner, Jim Second-Eye, and Jim Shaw, upon 

whom t he Indian Agency relied as interpreters and 
40 messengers. 

These Delawares had not only learned the language of 

the white man, but had also adopted at lea st one of his 

customs, the use of fire-water. Although the law forbade 

selling whiskey to the Indians, the three interpreters pro­

cured somewhere a generous supply and then distributed it to 

a l a rge party of their fellow-tribesmen encamped at Torrey's 

trading house soon after its establishment. The Indians im­

bibed and at first became quite merry; later, after night­

fall, each of the braves surrendered his knife and gun to 

the chiefs, who hid them, and the orgy began in earnest. 

Throughout the night pandemonium prevailed. Screams, hideous 

yells, fisticuffs, scratching, biting, and all manner of 

unarmed personal combat caused apprehension among the white 

men present, but none of the Indians were killed or seriously 
41 

injured, although it took them two days to recover. 

39Letter from T. G. Western to L. H. Williams, April 
29, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Texas Indian Papers, 
1844-1845 (Austin: Texas State Library, 1960), p. 225. 

40 
Brown, .2.£· cit., II, 264. 

41 
Ibid., p. 265. 
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When Williams replaced Sloat at the trading house, it 

was to have been a temporary arrangement, but complications 

with the Comanches delayed Sloat's return from his mission 

to that tribe, and before he could resume his duties at the 
42 

post, he died of a " congestive fever." Williams remained at 

the trading house and was present during one of the most 

serious threats which the Indians ever made against the 

post. 

In May , 1845, a party of Comanches--about a thousand 

lodges or four thousand persons in number--camped near 

Torrey's tra ding house, causing some apprehension on the 

frontier. The Indians, however, were assembling for a war 

expedition to Mexico, 43and it was not until the fall, after 

their return, that some of them were to threaten the trading 

house. In July Sloat, accompanied by Jim Shaw and two white 

me n, met Mope chucope's party of one hundred and fifty 

Comanche wa rriors on the San Saba bound for Mexico. Unable 

to dissuade them from their raid, he escorted them, at their 

insistence, past San Antonio to prevent any conflict with 

42 Letter from George Barnard to T. G. Western, 
October 6, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Texas Indian 
Papers, 1844-1845 (Austin: Texas State Library, 1960), 
pp . 377-378. 

43Letter fro m T. G. Western to Robert S. Neighbors, 
May 11, 1845, Ibid., pp. 235-236; and Telegraph and Texas 
Register Q-!ouston], May 28, 1845, p. 2, col. 1. 
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Texans. At San Antonio they met Captain Hays, of the Texas 

Rangers, who presented the Indians with beef and other 

provisions and also tried to stop them from their foray. 
44 Sloat left them at San Antonio, and on their way to the Rio 

Grande the Indian band attacked and killed a group of 

contraband traders coming from Mexico and took their horses 
45 and baggage mules. 

On Se ptember 12 Mopechucope and his men were back in 

Texas, at the council ground near the trading house to 
46 attend a treaty council. Either from bad conscience over 

the trad er incident or from fear caused by a rumor which 

circulated among the Indians that the whites intended to 

fall upon them and kill them, 47 the Comanches at first 

exhibited an uneasiness and suspicion of the Texans. 

Thinking no doubt to counteract the rumor of evil intent, 

the commissioners who greeted the Comanches assured them 

that there was no need to feel fear, for the white men 

44 · Letter from Benjamin Sloat to T. G. Western, 
August 18, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Texas Indian 
Papers, 1844-1845 (Austin: Texas State Library, 1960), 
p . 325. 

45Letter from William G. Cooke to T. G. Western, 
August 25, 1845, Ibid., pp . 331-332. 

46Minutes of a Council Held at Tehaucana Creek and 
Appointment of Daniel D. Culp as Secretary, September 12, 
1845, Ibid., p . 335. 

47Le t t er from Benjamin Sloat to T. G. Western, August 
18, 1845, Ibid., pp. 325-326. 
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would do them no harm and would explain any bad reports 

which they might hear. Two days after the arrival of the 

Comanches, five or six men bearing officia l documents rode 

into camp, alarming the Comanches. Mopechucope wanted to 

know what it meant, but he was satisfied with the explana­

tion that the riders brought only "good talk" from the 

president to his red brothers. After the council the 

Comanche chief renewed his peace treaty, received gifts, and 
48 

departed in friendship. 

In a sudden change of mood Mopechucope and his braves 

surrounded the trading house late in November. From their 

menacing appearance John Torrey expected t hem to attack, 

and, because he had no means of defense, he decided to try 

to parley with them. With great presence of mind he asked 

if they had not come for a council. As they hesitated, 

undecided what to reply, he told them tha t t heir presents 

were ready. At this the warriors cons ented to a council.49 

The following day was set aside for trading, but the Indians 

did little trading. The third day was the day for "big 

talk." Se a ts were prepared for the council and the Indians 

48Minutes of a Council Held at Tehaucana Creek and 
Appointment of Daniel D. Cul p as Secretary, September 12, 
1845 to September 26, 1845, Ibid., pp. 335-344. 

49 0 Telegraph and Texas Regist er Houston], January 
28, 1846, p. 2, col. 4. 
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came up from the camp armed with knives, bows, and guns. 

They invit ed all the white men present at the post to attend 

the council, but in view of their hostile appearance the 

white me n t hought it wise to station four or five of their 

number in the hous e s . The int er preter, Jim Shaw, informed 

the Comanches tha t it was not in the best form to bring 

their arms to counc i l, but they ex plained the singula r 

behavior with t he excuse tha t they feared the weapons might 

be stolen i f l eft i n camp . The Indian women and children 

huddl ed togethe r below a bluff, apparently ready for any 

emergency . Torrey, Williams , an d the po s t's gunsmith, 

William Cogswe ll, we nt i nto the pa r l ey with little hope of 

ge t t ing through it safely. 50The council began with the 

pas s ing of t he council pi pe and the speech of an old chief 

a dvis i ng the young men to remain at peace. Williams spoke 

to t he India ns 1n a ve in obviously intended to overcome 

the ir hostility, promising that gifts would be distributed 

at the end of t he council and that there would continue to 

• be pres ents for them each ye a r when the leaves fel1. 51The 

government s t ores which the I ndian agent had on hand to 

501e t ter from L. H. Williams to T. G. Western, 
Nove mber 23, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Texas Indian 
Pape r s

4 
1844 - 1845 (Aus tin: Texa s St ate Library, 1960), 

pp . 41 - 415 . 
51 

Report of a Council with t he Comanche Indians, 
November 23 , 1845, I b i d ., p . 411 . 
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give the Indians were very low, and their hostility showed 

pla inly tha~ if they were not pleased they would take action 

to satisfy themselves. 52Therefore Torrey gave them presents, 

and, since they seemed determined to extract as many 

presents as possible, he laid out goods to the amount of 

four or five hundred dollars before they were entirely 

satisfied; then t hey exhibited nothing but fri endliness, 

with many a grim warrior coming forwa rd to assure Torrey 

that he was "Bobbasheel e heap. 1153 

The pr esents which the Comanches thus extracted from 

t he white men included such items as twenty-one silk 

handkerchiefs, 18 lo oking glasses, lead and 35 pounds of 

powder, blankets, 75 pounds of brass wire (for making 

armlets and other personal decorations), and brightly 

colored cloth . 54 

Before the Comanches left they informed the men at 

the trading house that the powerful chief, Pahayuco, would 

arrive there soon. Destitute of government stores and not 

521etter from L. H. Williams to T. G. Western, 
November 23, 1845, Ibid., p. 414. 

53Telegraph and Texas Register [Houston], January . 
2 8 , 184 6 , p • 2 , CO 1. 4 . 

54 Report of a Council with the Comanche Indians, 
November 23 , 1845, i n Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), Texas Indian 
Papers, 1844- 1845 (Austin : Texas State Library, 1960), 
p . 413. 



anxious to repeat the experiencep Torrey and Williams 

immediately asked that help be sent to them. Williams 

33 

wrote the Superintendent of Indian Affairs of the situation, 

concluding with the comme nt that 

The whites here seem to think that should they 
be similarly situated again they would like, the 
Georgia Ma jor be troubled with a sli5gt lameness, 
and retrea t before the enemy appear. 

Torrey set out for Austin and saw William G. Cooke, 

the Secretary of War, who ha d already heard from the Indian 

. Superintendent of the need for protection at the post. 

Robertson County Rangers had be en disbanded, but Cooke 

secured an officer and thirty men from United States forces 

in Austin to protect the post, and authorized Williams to 

purchase supplies to present to Pahayuco. 56 

Almost from the beginning there had been threats 

against the trading house. But the Torreys and Barnard 

held their ground and continued to operate their rustic 

emporium until 1849, after which Barnard carried on alone, 

and the Torrey brothers headed further west. Soon after the 

establishment of the post, a threatened Indian raid had 

prompted We stern to send an artillery piece to the post to 

strengthen its rather weak defenses, but, to the credit of 

55 Ibid., p. 415. 

56Let te r from Wi l liam G. Cooke to Anson Jones, 
December 12 , 1845, Ibid., pp. 422-423. 
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the peacemaking skill of the traders, it never became 

necessary to use it. 57 

The very real and constant danger from the Indians 

wa s one of the disadvantages of the Indian trade, but the 

business was a profita ble one. In the Indian Superintend­

ent's words, it was "an enter prise offering greatest 
58 advantage upon a modest amount of capital." The transact-

ions with the Indians were c onducted in the simplest form of 

commerce, that of bartering one commodity for another, the 

trader hoping to turn a profit on the sale of the goods 

whic h he to ok in trade. The Torrey Company also sold goods 

to the government to be bestowed upon the Indians at annual 

powwows held, conveniently enough, at the adjacent council 

grounds. 

The initial expense of establishing the post included 

the construction of log buildings which housed the wares, 

traders, and government agents. In 1846 Paul Richardson 

charged one hundred dollars to fell logs and build an 

additional log building. 59The cost of construction of the 

57Notes, Council Ground, Tehaucana Creek, July 22, 
1844, Ibid., p. 82; Letter from T. G. Western to Benjamin 
Sloat, August 1, 1844, Ibid., p. 87; and Letter from T. G. 
Western to Benjamin Slo~August 16, 1844, Ibid., p. 89. 

58Let t er from T. G. Western to Richard Fitzpatrick, 
May 5, 1845, Ibid., p . 229. 

59 Strecker, .£.E.• cit., p. 28. 
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six or seven houses which comprised the post must have been 

about six or seven hundred dollars. The first shipments to 

the tra d i ng house, from February 23 to April 8, amounted to 

about two thous and dollars worth of merchandise, and it cost 

a pproxima tely two hundred dollars to have these good s 

freighted to the post. From February 1844 to July 1845 a 

total of $14,300.03 worth of goods were shipped to the 
60 trading house a t a tota l shi pping cost of $1,424.00. From 

July 1, 1845 to Dece mber 1, 1845, a total of $5,213.16 worth 

of merchandise was shipped to t he post, costing $304.62 in 

freighting cha r ges. 61 

The freigh~ers carried, on their return trips to 

Houston, the bales of buffalo robes, de erskins, and other 

pelts taken in tra de from the Indians. The freight charge 

was $1.50 a hundred pounds both to and from Houston in 1846 
62 

and wa s raised to $2.00 in 1848. The value of skins other 

than the deer and the buffalo was relatively small; these 

pelts included the r a ccoo n , cougar, antelope, bobcat, gray 

wolf, and occasionally the beaver. 

60List of Invoices of Goods Sent to Tradin~ House on 
Tehaucana Creek, May, 1845, in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), 
Texas Indian Pa pers, 1844-1845 (Austin: Texas State Library, 
1960), p . 248. 

61 Invoice of Goods, Wares, and Merchandise Received 
at Trading Hous e Post No. 2 from Torr ey & Bro., December, 
1845, Ib i d., p . 420. 

62 Strecker, .£12.· cit., p. 16. 
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Although some of the buffalo skins which the traders 

purchased were entirely r aw, most were tanned and some were 

decorated on the inside. 63 rndian squaws spent many hours 

preparing the hides, first scraping the skin thin and 

mak ing it soft, then of ten painting the inside with bright 

colored hieroglyphics, relating battles, fights with wild 

beasts, races or other sc enes which they had witnessed. 64 

Buffalo skins we re not suitable for leather-making because 

they were t oo porous, but they were useful as lap robes for 

wagons and sleds in cold er climat es, and most found their 

way to market in the northe rn states and Canada. The value 

of the robes depended upon the size, uniformity of the fur, 

and also upon the artistry of the painting on the inside. 

In 1846 the hides of average size sold in Houston for three 

dollars, and fancy ones sold for from eight to ten dollars. 65 

On October 15, 1845, Charles Beasley purchased five buffalo 

robes at two dolla rs each and also some sugar and coffee 

from the trading house, trading, in partial payment of his 

bill, ninety- s even pounds of cotton at four cents a pound 
66 and five bushels of corn at one dollar a bushel. 

63 Mueller, .2.E• cit., pp. 192-193. 
64 

Wallis, .2.2.• cit., pp. 114-115. 
65 Mueller, .£12.• cit., p. 192. 
66 Strecker, .2.E• cit., p. 8. 
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In 1846 large herds of buffalo could still be seen on 

the Texas plains. Traveling from the trading house to New 

Braunfels, Torrey and Roemer came upon a herd of at least a 

thous and buffa lo, gr a zing on the gras sy plains near a small 
67 

brook ca lled Will i s Cre ek. But Indians and buffalo hunters 

were trading a n estimated one hundred thousand hides 

annually, and t he number of animals killed for sport or meat 

wa s, no doubt, much greater, as the climate was unsuitable 

for the trea tment of hides more than half the ye ar. 68By the 

early 1850's the gre a t buff alo herds were disappearing from 

the Texas plains, and only the plentiful deer provided the 

Indian with peltry for trade. Five separate shipments of 

skins from the trading house, from June 15, 1852 to January 

22, 1853, netted $6 ,657.18, almost a thousand dollars a 

mont h . Of t h is total a mount only $113.00 was for skins of 

animal s other than deer. From 1844 to 1853 the trading 

house handl ed at l eas t ~eventymf 1ve t housand deerskins . In 

the course of a bout ten years, Grant and Barton, commission 

furriers in New York, sold at auction, for Torrey and 

Brot hers and later for George Barnard, more than seventy­

five lots of skins. 69 

67 Mueller, .Q.E• cit., p. 207. 
68

I b1d., p . 193. 
69strecker, .2.E• cit., p. 21. 
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Next to the skins, mules were the most important item 

of trade. Torrey got most of his mules in trade from the 

Comanches, who captured them on annual raids in the northern 

provinces of Mexico. 70Because of the war-like relations 

between Texas and Mexico, Torrey felt no compunction about 

t aking the animals thus acquired, and he sold them at 

re asonable prices. 71Most of the mules were completely wild 

when brought in. Those which Torrey had tamed sold for 

higher prices t han t he wild ones. There were usually two to 

six yoke of oxen , a number of horses, and sometimes as many 

a s thirty Spanis h mules on hand at the trading house. 72 

During the day the animals grazed on the pra irie and at 

night they were locked securely in the stockade built for 

that purpose. 73on the frontier at this time yearling colts 

sold for ten dollars, ponies for twenty to thirty-five 

dollars, oxen for about twenty dollars, Spanish mules for 

fifty-five to sixty dollars, and tame mules for one hundred 
74 and seventy-five dollars a span. 

A sideline of the trading house was the recovery of 

70 · 
Mueller, 2.E• cit., p. 193. 

71wallis, .£.E• cit., p. 109. 
72 Strecker, £:Q.• cit., pp. 18-20. 
73 Wallis, loc. cit. 
74 Strecker, £:Q.• cit., p. 21. 



stolen horses and runaway slaves . The Comanches and other 

Indians brought in runaway slaves and the Torreys redeemed 

them in the interest of the owner. The estate of James 
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1atthews i ssued to Messe r s . To r rey and Company, Trading 

House, Robertson County, Texas , on April 7, 1845 , a receipt 

for the return of a egro boy named Paul , a cknowledging a 

debt to t he Torreys for one hund r ed dollars paid the 

Comanches for his return , and furthe r stipulating that the 

estate would pay a like sum for the recovery of Charles , 

another runaway . 75Apparently there was an established rate 

for the re turn of r unaways ; t ha t same month anothe r group 

of Indians captured thr ee runaways and rec e ived one hundred 

dollars for each : 

Received of Nes s r . Torrey Co for the following 
I ndians , to wit , Red Worm, Runafter , Ooks-ta - le, 
Ashes , Keys , Segene , Standing Rock , and Culetoke 
(Cherokees) , the sum of thre e hundred dollars 
pa r funds for the apprehension and del ivery of 
the runaway negroes , the property of R. H. 
Porter , viz ., I saac , Rheuben and Charles. Also 
t he sum of fifty five dollars for the delivery 
of three gray mar es and a roan ho r s e , taken with 
t he ab ove mentioned negroes . Taken up about 15 
miles west of the Guadalupe river , making their 
way to t he spanish c ount ry . In witness whe reof, 
we have fixed our signatures at the trading 

7 5I bid ., p . 14 . The Torreys apparently r e ceived no 
commission or direct benefit on these transactions , other 
than the good -will of the slave - owners , but it is sa fe to 
assume that the Indians spent their rewa rd money at the 
trading house or accepted the reward in the form of trade 
goods since Torrey ' s was the only place where they could 
trade . 



house on Tahwoccanno Creek , Robertson county, 
April 4, 1845. 

Signed 
Daniel G. Watson 
John Conner , His x mar k 
Jess Chisholm76 
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For humanitarian r easons, the Torre ys also r ans omed a 

few Mexica~ prisone rs from the Comanches . The Texas govern­

ment a cted promptly to secure the r elease of Texans who fell 

victim to the Indians, but the r e was no such off icial 

concern for Me xican citizens in Texas . In 1844, when a band 

of Indians abducted two Simpson child r en from their home 

near Austin , congress ma de a spe cial appropriation of funds 

to effect t he ir recovery . 77 Tha t same year Tor rey pa id the 

r ansom for a Me xican girl taken prisoner by t he Comanches on 

one of the ir r a ids in Me xico , and hired her to cook at the 

trading house until he could arrange to return her to he r 

home . She remained at the post about a yea r, quite 

contented and not at all eager to return to Mexico . 78 In 1846 

Torrey also r ansomed three small Mexican boys f rom their 

Indian captor s . He was successful in reuniting one of the 

76Ibid ., pp . 14-15. 

77Joint Resolution for Redemption of William and Jane 
Simpson , December 31 , 1844 , in Dorman H. Winfrey (ed.), 
Texas Indian Papers , 1844- 1845 (Austin: Texas State Libra ry, 
1960) , p . 158 . 

781etter f rom T. G. Western to Benjamin Sloat, 
Decembe r 14 , 1844 , Ibid ., p . 152; and Wall is, £.E• cit., 
p .111 . --



41 

boys with h is relat ives and was in this instance r e imbursed 

for the $120 ransom which he had pa id fo r the lad . 79 

The Torrey trading houses had an unusual banking and 

credit system . The Tehaucana post served as a clearing 

house fo r the checks of r angers and Indians , not only within 

the immed iate a r ea but for t he ent ire bo r der from the 

western edge of wha t is now Hood County almost to New 

Br aunfels . The trad i ng company sometimes pa i d advance s to 

Indians fo r dee r skins ; t he debts could then be pa id at the 

posts on the avasota river , at t he fal ls of the Brazos, or 

at New Braunfels . A Texas historian , John K. Strecker 

calls t he Torrey Company the first r egional bank in the 

Unit ed States . 80The advances we r e pa id on a basis allowing 

a ppr oximately fourt e en c ents a pound fo r the skins . The 

r ecord of one such transaction r eads : 

Thr ee months afte r date I promise to pay to Mess r s . 
Torrey Co . the sum of Thirty Dolla r s in Shav ed Sk in~ 
a t six fo r one dollar. Trading house , Oct . 1 , 1844~1 

Tr ad ing house r eceipts made out to Indians for deliv ery of 

deerskins were mar ked wi t h an~ in a circle to indica te one 

hund r ed skins , a plain~ to indicate ten, and a single 

79 Mueller , £J2. • c it ., p . 144. 
80strecker, .£.2.• cit ., p . 19 . 
81 Strecker , .£.2.• cit., p . 7. 



42 
82 s t r oke for ea ch one unde r t en . Severa l of t he se re ceipts 

made out at New Br aunfe l s on va rious da tes in the f a l l and 

winter of 1846 and on July 21, 1847 , were s i gne d by Sam 

Houston fo r the Torrey Company or were wi tness ed by Sam 

Houston. The rece i pts were late r sent to the Tehauca na post 

when the Indians had balanced their ac c ounts and se r ve d a s a 

r eco r d of credit due to the t r ading hous e f or sk ins from the 

ew Br aunfels store . 83 

Besides being a pr of i table busine s s ca rried on a t 

some r isk to per son and pr operty , t he trading hous e wa s of 

value to the re publ ic in the r egula t i on of India n a ffa irs . 

Fr om the viewpoint of the white men at leas t , t he trading 
84 house exerted a saluta ry effe c t upon t he Ind ians . The 

Indian t r ade was an impor tant means of contro l ling the red 

men , 85and , by the esta blishment and ope r at i on of t he trading 

house , the Tor reys played an important part i n Sam Houston ' s 

policy of peace, friendship , and comme r ce wi th the Indians , 

which resulted in t he successful neg otiation of trea ties 

with the Indian t r ibes , the r educt i on of Ind i a n d isturba nces 

82
Ib1d . , p . 12 . 

83 Ib1d . , p . 23. 
84Brown , .QJ?. . Cit •, I I , 262 . 

85Lena Cl a r a Ko ch , " The Federal Ind i an Policy i n 
Texas , 1845- 1846 , " The Southwes tern Historical Qua rt erly, 
XXV I II (July , 1924 , to Apr il 1925 ), 268 . 
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on the frontie r, and the consequent reduct ion of the cost of 

Indian relations because of the lessened expenditures for 

pro tection . 86sam Houston noted the contribution of t he 

Torre ys to Texas Indian relations in a letter written on 

behalf of the traders to Wi lliam L. Marcy at the time of the 

Texas annexation : 

At a time , when our rela tions with the Indians, 
were not by any means tranquil , these ge ntlemen, 
at their own risk and expense , established a t r ad ­
ing House beyond the reach of all succour , f rom 
t he inhabitants , and without protection fro m the 
Government ; It is owing mu ch to their enterprise 
and exertions that we have been enabled to br ing 
about , and ma intain friendly relations , with 
nume rous ribes , wh ich had inflict ed se rious injury 
upon our f r ont ier settlers : But rece ntly , an 
irru ption of t he Comanches was av~rted by the 
influence of their Trading House . e7 

Aft er the Re public of Texas became a state, the 

Torreys continued to ope r a te the trading house a nd continued 

to be of assistance in Indian relations. At the Spring 

Creek Council in 1846 the United States concluded a treaty 

with the Texas I ndian tribes. According to the origina l 

wording of the treaty , the Indians we re to receive pre sents 

of an undetermined a mo unt the "next fall." The senat e set 

86Anna Muckle roy, "The Indian Policy of the Republic 
of Texas , " The Southwestern Historical uarterl XXVI 
(1922 - 1923) , 1 

871ette r f r om Sam Houston to Will i am L. Ma rcy, 
December 23 , 1845 , 1n Amelia Williams and Eugene C. Barker 
(eds . ) , The Writin~s of Sam Houston (Aust i n : The University 
of Texas Press , 19 3) , IV , 122 . 
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t he amount of the presents at ten t hous and dolla rs but 

changed t he words , "next fa l l, " to re ad: "a t s uch time as 

the Pr esident of t he Unit ed Stat es may t h i nk pro per. 11 88The 

Un i ted States dallied and de layed t he fulfilment of the 

pr omise of g if t s to the Indians for s o long t ha t the Indians 

we r e about t o lose confidence in t he wh i te man ' s word. All 

of the gains made by the treaty would have bee n lost ha d 

not Sam Houston asked f or and r eceived hel p from the 

To r r eys . Houston pe r suaded t he brothe r s to purchase 

pre s ents and d i stribute t hem a mong t he Indian chiefs and 

wa i t on the Un i ted Sta te s Gover nment for their pay . 89 

The i mmed i ate ef fe ct of t he pacifica tion of the 

I nd i ans t hr ough t r ad e , trea t y , and presents was to draw 

imm i gr ation fu r ther wes t a ll al ong the f rontier. 90The 

trading hous e se rved as me et ing pl a ce for red men and white , 

the two c ont ending forces for the soil of Texa s . 

Wha t was the s i gnificance of this trading House? 
Wha t d i d i t s t and for? It stood for everything 

88Tr eaty with t he Comanches and Other Tribes , May 
15, 1846 , i n Dor man H. Winfrey ( ed . ) , Texas Indian Papers , 
1844- 1845 (Aus tin : Texas St a te Library, 1 960) , Article IX, 
pp . 47-48 . 

89Paper on Indian Affairs, 1845- 1860 , Texas State 
Li bra ry ; J ohn s . Ford's Journal ( MS . University of Texas 
Libr ar y) ; and Neighbors Papers , University of Texas Library. 

90T. c . Ri cha rd s on , East Texas It s His tory and Its 
Make r s (New York : Lewi s Hi st orica l Publ ishing Company , 
1940) , I , 134 . 
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to t he east of it. It stood for the white man , 
the westward - driving , land - hungry Anglo -Saxon. 
This was his advance , the po int of h is spear 
t hrust f a r out into the Indian country . It was 
a symbo1 . 91 

With the continuing advance of settlement , the Tehaucana 

site of the trading house became unsu i table, and the 

trade rs moved furt her out into t he Indian country. After 

George Barnard bought the post , he moved it to Comanche 

Peak in Hood County in 1849 . 92 The Torrey brothers moved 

west . David Torrey atte mpted to open up a new trade with 

the Apaches and was killed in the attempt. 

David and John Torrey joined a party of about one 

hund red men led by Capt a in Hays bound fo r California. The 

part y l eft El Pas o in Septembe r of 1849 . The Torrey 

br othe r s did not intend to go thr ough to California. Hays 

and David we re to treat wit h Indians in the Trans-Pecos 

a rea , a fter which the Torreys intended to return to Texas. 93 

91walte r P. Webb , ''The Last Tre a ty of the Re ~ublic of 
Texas , '' The Southwestern Historical Quarterly , XXV (Janua ry, 
1922) , 155 . 

92 Strecker , .£.E. • ill·, p . 24 . 

93John Henry Brown, Life and Times of Henry Smith the 
First American Governor of Texas , (Dal las: A. D. Aldridge 
and Company , St ereotypers , Printers , and Binder s , 1887 ), p. 
378 ; Walte r P . We bb (ed . ) , et al ., The Handbook of Texas 
(Austin : The Texas Sta te Hi s torical As s ociation , 1952 ), II, 
791 ; and Jacob de Cordova , Es q ., "Murder of Dan iel To r r ey by 
the Indians , " Texas State Gazet t e [Austin] , February 23 , 
1850 , p . 7 , co l . 1 . 



Although he had planned to return to Texas within twenty­

five days, John Torrey went through to California instead , 

but he did not re main there as did Hays , and he was s oon 

back in Texa s , ope r ating his milling enter prises in New 

Br aunfels . 94Dav i d Torr ey returned to Texas, traveling down 

the Rio Gra nde on the Me xica n s ide to Presidio Del Norte, 

whe r e he cro ss ed over to the Texas side and opened a 

tra ding ca~p to trade with t he Me s calero Apaches . 95Torrey 

carr ied on an ex ce llent trade in the camp of some seven or 

eight hundr ed Apa ches , but the f riendly disposition of his 

customers changed without wa r n i ng when news reached the 

ca mp tha t some Apaches had been killed in a brush with 

Ame ricans traveling to California . David Torrey and all 

of his companions , except one who lived to tell the story, 

96 we re k i lled by t he Apa ches on Christma s Day, 1849 . 

In the early 1850 ' s t he buffalo were disappearing 

!ram tha Texas pla1ng. By 1854 the Indians had lost the 

94De Cordova , Ibid .; and Ernst Koe big, "Lebenslauf 
Skizze, " Neu- BraunfelserZeitung , January 27 , 1887 , p. 2 . 

95John Henry BroYm , Life and Time s of Henry Smith 
t he First Ame rican Governor of Texas , (Da l la s : A. D. 
Ald ridge and Com pany, Ste r eotype r s , Printers , and Binders , 
1887 ) , p . 37 8 . 

96 Ibid ; and De Cordova , loc . cit. 
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st r uggle for Texas, and the government had placed them on 

r eservations . 97 

1th t he pas s ing of the buffa lo and the Indian from 

the exas scene als o passed the Indian Trad er , but Tor rey ' s 

r ading house had served the Texans well and earned a place 

in exas f r ontie r histor y . 

97 Richardson , .2.E • cit ., III , 1140. 



CHAPTER IV 

THOMA S STEBBINS TORREY 

Thomas Torrey left Connecticut to join his brothers 

David and John in 1840 .1 
His life in Texas was brief but 

noteworthy . He he lped with the location of t r ading houses 
2 3 for the Torre y Company , joined the Sant a Fe Exped ition, and 

went , at Sam Houston's bidding, on a pea ce-making miss ion 
4 

to the wild and hostile Indian tribes . He died in 1843 at 

t he age of twenty - four . 5 

The yea r afte r Thomas Torrey came to Texas, the ill­

fat ed Santa Fe Expedit ion was organized . It was President 

Lamar 's plan to send a three - membe r g overnme nt commission 

accompanie d by a mi l itary escort to invite the pe ople of 

Santa Fe to place themselves unde r the protection of the 

1John H. Br own, Histor of Texas from 168 to 1892 
(St . Lou is : Becktold and Company , 1 93 , II, 27 • 

2Walte r P . Webb (ed . ) , et al ., The Handbook of Texas 
(Austin : The Texas St at e Historical Ass ocia tion , 1952 ), II, 
790 . 

3 Ibid .; R. Ea r l McClendon , "Daniel We bster and Mexican 
Relations:The Santa Fe Prisone r s ," Southwe ste rn Historical 
Quart er l y , XX.XVI (1932 - 1933 ) , p . 292 ; and No el M. Loomis , 
The Santa Fe Pioneer s (Nor man : Univers ity of Oklahoma Press , 
1958) , p . 251 . 

4Letter from Sam Houston to Thomas S . Torrey, Esq ., 
in Amelia W. Wi lliams and Euge ne C. Ba r ke r (ed s .), The 
Writin s of Sam Houston 1813- 186 (Austin : The University of 
Texas Pre ss , 19 3 , III , 3 0 . 

5 Webb (ed . ) , et al ., loc cit. 
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Texas fl ag . William G. Cooke , R. F . Brenham , and Jose 

Antonio Navarro were the comm is s i one rs. The military escort 

of two hund r ed and sevent y men wa s under the command of 

Gene r al Hugh McLeod . In order to establish comme rcial 

relat ions with the people of Santa Fe , Lama r is s ued an 

invitation to me rchants to join the expe dition . About fifty 

me rc hants and trade r s rendezv oused at Austin for the excur­

sion, which le f t fro m Br ushy Cr eek , about fif teen miles 

north of Aust i n on June 21 , 1841 , 6and among t hes e merchants 

was young Thomas Torrey of the firm of Torrey and Brothe r s . 

The expedit i on was just the sort of ent e r prise to attract 

one of the Torrey brothers , comb i ning as it did the promise 

of a luc ra tive trade with the e l ement of a dventure , for , as 

evidenced by the Indian trade ca rried on by t hese brothers , 

the To rreys did not shrink fro m a business project which 

included a degr ee of personal r isk . 

The party left Te xas in high spirits , and Thomas 

Torrey's expectations fo r the journey were n o le s s than 

those sha r ed by t he other members of the group . He intended 

to establish a r egular business between the Un i ted States 

and Santa Fe , which would , no doubt , have be en ver y 

profitable had he succeed ed . 7 Torrey als o serv ed as a 

6 Louis J . Wortham , A History of Texas f rom Wi lde r ness 
to Commonwealth (Fort Worth : Wo rtham- Molyneaux Company , 
1924), IV, pp . 82 - 83 . 

71oomis , loc . cit . 
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buffalo hunte r for the group. 8 Prior to the ex pedition, he 

had hunted with Ge or ge W. Kendall, the reporter of the New 

Orleans Picayune , who went along on the trip and later wrote 
9 at length of the expedit ion. 

or about six weeks the journey was not unpleasant, 

for it led t hrough country which afforded a plentiful supply 

of game for food and an abundance of water and gra s s for the 

cattle and horses . But later the pa rty ent er ed a moun­

t a inous , a rid r egion in which there was no game for the 

hunters . Whe n the last of the cat tle were slaughte r ed and 

pr ovisions r an short, the pa r ty began to encounter diffi­

culties . To obtain food in a wilde r ness for a company of 

mo re than thr ee hund r ed men would have been d i f fi cult under 

the best conditions , but in a country where there was no 

vegetation or game and ve r y l i ttle water, it was almost 

i mp oss ible . Fa ced with the possibility of s t a rva tion, the 

commissioners sent three me n ahead to announce the approach 

of the expedition and to return with fo od. The three 

8 
We bb (ed . ) , et al ., loc. cit.; Evidently somewhat in 

error , R. Earl McClendonin his "Dan iel Webster and Mexican 
Relations : The Santa Fe Prisoners ,'' Southwestern Historical 
Quarterly , XXVI (1932- 1933 ), p . 292 , indicates that Thomas 
Torrey was a me rchant f r om Connecticut, wh o happened to be 
i n Texas during the spr ing of 1841 and sought to t ake 
advantage of wha t he thought would be a safe means of vis it­
ing Santa Fe , ex pec t ing to r eturn directly to t he United 
States . 
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chosen--Howland , Baker , and Rosenbe rry--set out, and the 

rest of the party continued their ma r ch , losing their way at 

times and subsisting on such food as could be found in the 

10 ba r ren c ount ry thr ough which they passe d. Kendall wrote 

tha t they were re duced t o the n ecessity of eating snails and 

lizards and that t he men devoured "every tortoise and snake , 
11 

every living and cree pi ng t h ing" whi ch they could find . To 

make ma t te rs wors e , many of t he men had to walk because 

t he ir hors es we r e lost in a s t ampe de . 

Howland , Baker , and Rose nberry a rrived at the Mexican 

set t lements early i n Septembe r a nd were promptly placed 

under arrest . After the r ema inder of the par ty had endured 

thre e weeks of near-s tarva tion with no wo r d f r om the three 

men , the bes t - mounted me n pushe d on ahead , wh i le t he re st 

e s t ablished camp to wa it in t he wilderne s s until relief 

could be sent . Cooke took command of the advance pa rty and 

set out with about ninety men . After much hard ship , they 

fina l ly re a ched the Mexican settlements. Cooke and his me n 

surrendered the ir arms to Mex ican forces with the under­

standing t hat they would be pe r mitted to re ma in at Santa Fe 

for several days for the pur pose of trading, a fter which 

lOWortham , it IV p 85 86 .££• _c -·' , P • - • 

11 George Wilkins Kendall , Narrative of the Texan 
Santa Fe Expedition (New York : Harper & Brot hers , 
Publis he r s , 1856) , I, 253. 
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their weapons would be returned, but the Mexicans had 

deceived t he Texans and mad e them prisoners. Shortly after­

ward , the two hund r ed men who had been left in camp made 

their way to the settle ments , weakened and ill. Me xican 

forces arrested t hem i mmed i at ely . 

he Me xicans marched the Texan prisoners to El Paso , 

where they we re turned over to tr?ops of the national 

government of Mex ico and ma rche d to Mex ico City . The Texans 

were tre a ted with extreme crue l ty by their Santa Fe captors, 

but th e nat ional government forces treated them more 

humanely . Many of the me n were ill after the ord ea l in the 

wilderness and unable to stand the long trek from Santa Fe 

to El Paso . They received no sympa thy from the captain of 

their guard , and many of those who faltered 1n the march 

we r e shot and t he ir bodie s left by the ways ide . To add to 

t heir mi sfortune, s mall pox broke out among the prisoners, 

and a number of t hem died of the disea se . The march lasted 

three months . In ear ly February , eight months after their 

de parture from Brus hy Creek, the prisoners re ached Mexico 

City , whe r e they we r e pl a ced in Perote Prison. 

Members of the expedition who claimed citizenship of 

countries other than Texas obtained their r elease in a few 

months through the efforts of the foreign ministers at the 

Me xican cap ital . Most of the others were released in 
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12 June . Through t he efforts of the United States Ministe r in 

exico City , Torrey, Kendall , and five others were rel eased 

on April 21, 1842 . 130n April 25 , To r r ey r eceived a passport 

to leave .Mex ic o : 

he Pr esident of the Mexican Re public gr ants fr ee 
and s afe passage to Don Thomas S . Torrey, citize n 
of the . S . of America so t ha t he may leave t he 
Re publ ic . And Hi s exce llency cha r ges al l 
authorities , civil as wel l as milita ry, of t he 
na tion not to cause any obstacle on his j ourney 
and to grant him whatever aid h e may need as suming 
t ha t he will pay j ust prices for such aid . 
Governor ' s Place , Mex ico , Apr il 25 , 1842 , twenty­
s ec ond Anniversary of Inde pendence . 

By orde r of His Excellency 

The do cument bea r s the signatur e of the Secretary of State 
14 and Foreign Affair s and is duly r ecorded . Fr om Me xico City 

Torrey made h is way t o Vera Cruz whe re h i s passport was 

countersigned on l"iay 12 , 1842 , pe r mit t i ng him to depart fo r 
15 

New Orleans aboa r d the Unit ed States warsh i p , Wo odbury . 

The fiasco of the Santa Fe Ex pedition did not dampen 

Thomas Torrey ' s spirit of adventur e , for he accepted an 

12 
Wortham, £12. • cit ., IV , pp . 86- 90. 

13 
R. McClendon , £12. · cit ., p . 309 ; and Loomis, loc . 

14 Trans lation from Spanish of Passport Granting Fr ee 
and Safe Passage to Don Thoma s S . Torrey , Governor ' s Palace , 
Me xico , Apr i l 25 , 1842 , (Torrey Family Documents, Mr s . 
Curtis T. Vaughan , San Antonio ) . 

15Ibid . 
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appointment as Indian Agent for t he Re public of Texas, 16 

and the year fol low ing h i s r elease in Me xico City, he went 

17 
on a mi ssion deep i nto I nd i an count ry . Lama r' s a dministra -

tion had been ma rked by mo r e or le ss c onstant Indian wars . 

When Sam Houston began h i s se c ond te r m, he s ought to make 

peace with the I nd ians . A first step i n this pa cification 

was to conclud e trea t ies wit h t h e wild and hos til e t r ibes 

wh ich inhabited the western part of Texas . Houston 

a ppointed Joseph C. Eld r edge as Co mm i ss ioner of I nd i a n 

Aff a irs , and charged Indian Agent , Thomas Torrey , a nd 

Eld re dge with the task of inducing t he wild tribes to attend 

a t r ea t y c ouncil . They we r e to be a c c ompanied by the 

Delawa r e interpreters and guides , Jim Shaw , John Conne r , and 

J i m S econd - Eye , and two or thre e wh ite men of ap proved 

c ha r a ct e r . 18Hous t on wr ote to Thomas Torrey : 

16 
Br own , 2.:2, . cit ., II , 264 . 

17John Henry Brovm , India n Wa rs and Pionee r s of Texas 
(St . Louis : Nixon- Jones Printing Company , Becktold Printing 
and f g . Co . Binde r s , L . E . Dan iell , Publisher) , pp . 93 - 99 ; 
J . W. Wilbar ge r , I nd i an Depredations in Texas (Aus tin : 
Hutchings Printine House , 1889 ), p . 40 ; B. T . Bates ( e d . ) , 
Histo r and Reminiscences of Denton Count (Denton : 
1c Nitzky Printing Company , 191 , p . 159 ; T . C. Ri chardson , 
East Texas Its Hi s t ory a nd Its Make r s ( Ne w Yo r k : Lewis 
Historical Publishing Company , 1940) , I , 133 ; and author 
unknown , P. istor of Texas To e t he r wit h a Bio r a hi ca l 
History of Ta r r ant and Parker Counties Chicag o : The Lewis 

Publis h i ng Company , 1895) , p . 238 . 
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Sir -- You are hereby appo inted an agent to 
a c company Colonel Joseph C. Eldredge and such 
friendly Indians as may go with him to visit the 
tribes of wild and hostile Indians on our 
fr ontier . . . . 

he object of your a ppointment is tha t if he 
should be prevented by illne s s or de a th, after 
having left the settlements, from performing the 
duties as signed him, you wi l l c ons i de r yourself 
invested (and you a r e he reby inve sted in t hat 
event) with all powers and you will conform to 
all t he ins tructions given to him . 

Sam Houston19 

20 Eldredge invited his f riend , Ha milton P . Bee , to go along , 

and John F . To rrey al s o joined the group . 
21 

The ma in pur pose of the mission was to find the 

Comanches and get the m to come to a treaty council to be 

held at Bird's Fort , twenty- two miles west of the pre sent 
22 city of Dallas , on Augus t 10 , 1843 . Eld r edge left 

Wash ington on May 7 and went to Fort Milam to get a Comanche 

19Ibid . 
20 John Henry Brovm, History of Texas from 1685 to 

1892 (St . Lou is: Becktold and Company , 1893), II, 264 . 
21Although other sources make no mention of John F . 

Torrey as a part of the group , Torrey , in a 1887 interview 
with Ernst Koebig , editor of the Neu- Br aunfelser Zeitung . 
re la t ed the story of this journey to the wild tribes and 
revealed that he also was a membe r of the party. 

22 Erns t Koebig, "Lebens lauf Skizze ," Neu-Braunfelser 
Zeitung , J anuary 27 , 1887 , p . 2 ; and Letter to Sam Houston 
from J . C. Eld redge, Dece mber 8 , 1843 , in Dorman H. Winfr ey 
(ed . ) , Texas I ndian Papers 1825-1843 (Austin : Texas State 
Libr a ry, 1960) , p . 251 . 
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child called Maria , 1n order to return her to her people . 

She had been taken prisone r a t t he Council House Fight, 

which occurred in 1840 , during Lamar' s administra tion, at 

San Antonio . 23At t h is time t he Coma nches, who had been 

mak i ng r a i ds on the frontie r, came in , at the Texans's 

invitation, to discuss a treaty . The Texans had told them 

to bring all the white pris oners in their possession . 

Instead of doing so , the Comanches brought only one pris­

one r, al t hough they held many others . In the council house , 

the Texans infor med the twelve chiefs in attendance that 

t hey would be held as hostages until the other white 

prisone rs we re delivered up . One chief attempted to escape 

and was sho t . Instantly , the others drew their knives and 

tried despe r a t ely to escape . All twelve were killed , and , 

i n the ensuing battle with the warriors who had accompanied 

t he ch i ef s , anothe r thirty - five Comanches died . The Texans 

took a number of I ndian pris oners , mostly women and chil­

dren . The re sul t of t h is battle was to send the Comanches 
24 on t he warpath . It was afte r Houston took office for his 

second term that Thomas Torrey and Eldredge made their 

journey to the Comanches and other hostile t ribes , and 

23 Ibid .; and John Henry Brown , History of Texas from 
1685- 1892tst. Louis : Be cktold and Company , 1893 ), II, 
2M . 

24 Wortham , 2.E· cit ., IV , 65 . 
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Houston sent some Indian prisone rs with them to be released 

to their people in order to show the good intentions of the 

Texans . 

At the old council ground on Tehaucana Creek, 

Eld r edge me t Thomas Tor re y and the other members of his 

party , which included, in addition to the white men and 

their Delaware guides , a Comanche boy cal led William 

Hockley , two young Waco women prisoners , and the friendly 

Wa co ch ief , AcoQuash . Three da ys l ate r, on May 15 , the 

commission departed , heading for the plains in search of the 

wild t ribes . 25Their progress was Quite slow because the 

Delawares , prepar ed to trade with the t ribes they encoun-
26 tered , had loaded their pack animals heavily. The Delawar es 

we r e later to prove their loyalty to the white men in a time 

of gr eat danger , but the comm i ssioners found tha t their 

c our se was determined to a certain extent by the trading 

interests of the guides, and Torrey and Eld redge could in no 

way move them to the greater speed which they felt necessar y 
27 

because of t he approaching date of the council . 

25winfr ey , ££. · cit ., pp . 251- 252 . 
26 John Henry Brown, History of Texas from 1685 to 

1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company, 1893 ) , II , 265 ; and 
Lette r from J . c . Eldredge to Sam Houston , June 2 , 1843 , 
Winfrey , ££. · cit . , pp . 210- 211 . 

27 Letter to Sam Houston from J . c . Eldredge in 
Winfrey , ££. • cit ., pp . 256 , 260- 261 . 



The commissioners also ca r ried goods to serve as 

gifts to the Comanches. Houston sent Thomas Torrey a 

memor andum of the necessary a rticles for the trip, as 

suggested by the Delawares , wh ich included blankets , 

vermilion, fancy calico , cotton bed ticking, black silk 

handkerchiefs, fanc y shawls , assorted beads, lead , powder, 

tin pans , and tin cups . 28Eld r edge also purchased, from 

orrey and Brothers , two horses for the trip and such 

medical supplies a s epsom s a lts , magnes ia , pulverized 

r huba r b , ipecac, calomel , gum opium , blue ointment , and 
29 adhesive plaster . An additional item purchas ed for the 

59 

journey was a flag pa i nted by Jeff Wright for the sum of ten 

dollars . 30This mus t have been the white flag borne by the 

men to show the Indians t hat the intent of the pa rty was 

peaceful , and it proved to be well worth the price, for , 

in deference to the sanctity of the flag of truce , the 

Comanche chief determined to spare the lives of the 

commissioners . 31 

28 
Wi ll iams and Barker , loc . cit . 

29Account of Indian Bureau with Torrey and Brothers , 
May 5 , 1843, in Winfrey , £.£ • cit ., pp . 199- 200 . 

30Account of Indian Bur eau with Jeff Wright , in 
Winfrey , £.£ · cit ., p . 201 . 

31John Henry Brown, History of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Be cktold and Company , 1893) , II, 273 . 
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The group halted for a few days at an Anada r ko 

village west of the Trinity River and sent out r unne rs to 

invite tribes fr om the surround ing a rea to visit them . 

De lega tions from eleven s mall tribes re sponded . Among them 

were Wa cos , Caddos , Kee chis , Delawares, Bedias, Biloxi , 

Ionies and a few othe r s , constituting a large assemblage . 32 

The head chief of the Wa cos , Nah-ish-t o- wa , came and 

accepted the Wa co girls whom the Texans ha d brought . 

Although one of the girl s was the chief' s niece, both 

caused quite a scene when the commis s ioners endeavored to 

surrende r t hem , refusing to go with the chief and crying 

bitterly . In vain t he Texans t ried to pe rsuade the girls to 

go , and fina lly, the ol d chief's pa tience exhausted , he 

informed t he girl s t ha t they would be taken by force if 

neces sary . They mounted and departed, still lamenting their 

f a te , but t he ch ief expres s ed his gratitude for their 

r eturn ,33 

34 The next morning all me t in a council. Bee acted as 

32 rbid ., p . 266 ; Letter from J .C. Eldredge to Sam 
Houston , June 2 , 1843 , in :i,infrey , .£:2.· cit., pp . 210 - 211 ; 
and The Northern St andard LClarksvilleJ:September 14, 1843, 
p . 1 , col. 4 . 

33Letter to Sam Houston from J .C. Eldredge , December 
8 , 1843, in Winfrey , 2.12. · cit ., p . 255 . 

34Letter f rom J . C. Eldredge to Sam Houston , June 2 , 
1843 , in Winfrey , 2.12. • cit., pp . 210- 211 . 
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secr etar y . The deliberations began with the solemnities of 

embracing , smoking, and a wordy exchange of civilities. 35The 

Keechi chief a dvanced to the center of the gathering and 

motioned Thomas Torrey , Eld re dge , and Bee to approach . The 

ch ief cordially embra ced and shook hands with the wh ite men , 

saying t hat it was t he first time since the war that he had 
36 

thus met the whit e man in friendship . A se ries of dialogues 

betwe en t he Delawa res and the chiefs followed, and when 

Eldredge finally began to speak to the Indians , saying that 

he was the re pr esenta tive of the pr esident come to speak 

Houston's word s t o the m, the inte r preter, Jim Shaw , indig­

nantly refus ed to c onvey what he considered to be a lie. 37 

Back in Was h ington, Houston had conside red commissioning the 

Delawares to meet the wild tribes for him, 38and Shaw and the 

others had a ppa r ently unde r stood that he had done so and 

tha t the white men ha d come along only to write down an 

account of t he proc eedings . They had believed that 

35John Henr y Br own , History of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1593), II, 266 . 

361etter from J . c. Eld redge to Sam Houston in 
Winfr ey , .2.E · cit ., pp . 210-211 . 

37John Henr y Brown , History of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893) , II, 266 ; and 
Letter t o Sam Hous ton from J . C. Eld redge , December 8 , 
1843 , in Winfr ey , .2.E · cit. , p . 256 . 

38John Henry Br own , History of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold a nd Company , 1893) , II, 264 . 
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Eldredge's commission , attested to by r ibbons and seals , 

indicated the official ca pacity of the Delawar es . Only 

after Bee had read the document to them were they convinced 

otherwise. Then Shaw said : 

I beg your pardon, Joe, but I have been misled . I 
thought the Delawares were to make the treaties . 
We will go no farther, but go to our o~n country, 
on the ~· is s ouri r iver--wil l ~tart tomorrow , and 
will never return to Texas . 3~ 

Without heir guides , it would have been futile for the men 

to c ont i nue their trip; so they made arrangements fo r some 

Anadarkos to guide them ba ck to the settlements , but by the 

next day Shaw and the othe r De lawa res had reconsider ed and 
40 agreed to c ontinue the journey . 

On June 3 the pa rty left the village and , follow-

ing t he trail of the Santa Fe Exped ition , a rr ived in the 

n e ighborhood of t he Tawakoni and Wa co villages . Acoquash 

went to the near by village and returned to infor m the group 

t ha t the ch1efs would meet them on the following day . 41The r e 

was a considerable bustle of activity with cour ie r s pas ~: ng 

back and forth between Acoquash and the village . In keeping 

with the ceremonious preparations ma de by the Indians , the 

39 Ibid ., pp . 266- 268 . 
40

Ibid . 
41 Lette r to Sam Houston f r om J . C. Eld r edge , De c ember 

8 , 1843 , in Winfrey , .£.E · cit ., pp . 256- 257. 
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exans mount ed and rode out to meet the de l egat i on half way . 

Reaching t he appo i nted spot , t he wh it e men drew their party 

up into a line and tried to make as smart an appearance as 

possibl e . I n a few mi nutes t he y we r e gr eeted with a 

t errific noise of dr ums , fifes , and screaming . To the 

exans i t seemed t hat the woods were alive with Indians when 

t he old Tawakoni chief and h is one hund r ed and fifty 

warri or s ca e i nto sight from an opening in the timber. The 

Texans we r e once again embraced by Indian chiefta ins , and 

the smoking of the pi pe and the c ouncil follow ed . 42 

he ol d ch i ef seated Thomas Torr ey and Eld r edge 

directly in f r ont of him and spoke : 

mhe gr ound upon which you sit ls my gr ound , the 
wate r of which you have drunk is my wate r and 
th e meat of wh ich you have ea t en was mine , and 
you have been welcome , r.ot i:ia.ny times have the 
leaves come and gone s ince I and my people 
lived near the white n:.a.n in peace . Had I wi shed 

co d haves aln them all . They we r e weak and 
we were s trong but I did not want wa r . Soon t he 
wh te man became str ong , then he kil l ed my 
peopl e , t ook away our lands and blood was in our 
path . Treaties of pea ce we r e made but were 
br oken by bad r::ien . I thank th e Gr eat Spirit that 
has inclined t he hear t of your gr eat chief 
Houston to peace . 43 

In a subsequent conversation , afte r t he council had 

adjourned , t he ch i ef hinted so broadly for a g ift of powder 

42 Ibid ., p . 257 . 

43 Ibid ., p. 258 . 



that the commissione r s were obliged to dip into the pr esents 

wh ich were intended fo r t he Comanches and make him a liberal 
44 gift of powder and lead . 

The comm i ss ion had ca mpe d nea r the Waco village , and 

the Delawa r es announced that , before they could proceed 

further, it would be necessary to send out runners to de ter­

mine t he whereabouts of t he Comanches, requiring about 

fifteen days . 45 he chief of the asso ciate tribes of Tawakoni 

and Waco offe r ed to send the runners from h i s tribes , and 

the Texans accepted . 46 In the meantime Shaw , Conner , and 

Second - Eye proposed to go to Warren ' s Trading House on the 

Red River to de posit the peltries which they had acquir ed on 

the trip , in or de r tha t they would be unencumbe r ed and could 

move swiftly when wo r d came as to the location of the 

Comanches . The Delawares were to be absent only seven days 

at th e most , and to ins ure their quick return , Thomas Torrey 

accomp&n1@d th ~m . 47A r@port anme in due time that th~ 

Comanches were located about a twelve day's journey distant , 

44
Ibid . 

45John Henr y Brown , Histor y of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893 ), II , p . 268 

46 
Lette r to Sam Houston f r om J . C. Eldredge , De cember 

8 , 1843 , in Winfrey , .9.J2. • cit ., p . 259 • . 
47 

Ibid .; and John Henry Br own, History of Texas from 
1685 to 1E°92(St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893 ), II , 
268 . 
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but Torrey was unabl e to move the De l awares t o the swift 

r etur n they had pr omised . Whe n they d id r etur n , sixte en 

days had passed . To r rey told h i s companions that the 

Indians had waited to a ttend a poww ow of Delawar e chiefs 

which met at Wa r ren ' s ,and afterward he observed that Shaw 

dictated a let te r addressed to the United Sta t es Indian 

Agent , Butler, but he was unable to discov er what it c on­

cerned . At To r rey ' s ur ging , the guides pr omi sed to leave 

afte r the council, but instead they delayed two more days to 

administe r med ica tion to a sick squaw , not for love , but fo r 

money , each receiving an exo r bitant fee of twenty- five 
48 dolla r s for the se r vice . 

The gr oup was finally reunited and traveled another 

twenty days be fore they found the Comanches located five 

hund r ed miles no r thwest of the white settlement boundary . 49 

During t h is last part of the journey to t he Comanches the 

f ood supplies we r e completely exhaust ed and the men depended 

entir ely upon game , which was fort unately abundant . The 

travelers dr ew nea r the town of Pahayuca , the head chief of 

the Comanches , and waited unt il a delegation of about five 

48 
Lett er to Sam Houston f r om J . C. Eldredge , December 

8 , 1843 , in Winfr ey , .2.12. • c it ., pp . 259-.260 . 
49John Henry Br own , Hi s t ory of Texas from 1685 to 

1892 (St . Lo uis : Be cktold and Company , 1893 ) , II , 269 ; and 
KO e big , 1 o c . c it . 
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hund r ed warriors came to invite and escor t them into t he 

to~n . Pahayuca was absent and would not return for about a 

week , bu his seven wives prepar ed a tent for the visitors 

and made t hen welcome . 50 he messe ngers we re rec eived in a 

frie ndly manne r, but late r learned that the Comanches 

dist r usted them and that they we r e being held prisoner until 

a war council would decide their fate . 51 

_ahayuca returned on August 8 and gr ee ted his gues ts 

courteous ly, but revealed nothing of his disposition toward 

t he ir mission . The next day a hundred warrior s met in 

council . Torrey and his compan ions were not invited , but 

hey did not realize immediately that it was their own life 

or death which the council delibe r ated . After a few hours 

had passed with the Indians in council , the Texans had their 

first ink.ling of their peril . A comm ittee f r om the council 

confronted them with the charge that , while visiting in the 

Waco villages , they had g1ven poison to the Wnoos . Word of 

this t reache r y , the Indians said , had reached them from t he 

Wacos . The com.missioners were able to r efute the cha r ge 

successfully by calling the Wa co ch i ef Acoquash , who st i l l 

accompanied them , to testify i n their behalf , pointing out 

50 . 
John Henry Brown , Hi story of Texas f r om 1685 to 

1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893) , II , 269 . 
51Koebig , loc . cit . 
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that they had cured the old chief ' s squaw , not poisoned 
52 

he r . Whil e the party had tarried in the Waco village , Bee 

had ad ~inistered jalap and rhuba rb to the ailing squaw, 53and 

now the men had reason to be very glad , indeed, t ha t she had 

recovered . 

Mo re alarming than the cha r ges brought against Torrey 

and his friends was a warning received f r om a Negr o pr isoner 

he d by the Comanches . The man unde r stood only a little of 

the Comanche l anguage , but he told the com.mis s i one rs that 

the council was deciding whethe r they should live or die , 

and that their chances did not appea r to be good . The 

Texans immediately sent for t he Delawares and asked them if 

it were true , but the guides denied the story and reassur ed 

t hem . Less t han an hour later , one of t he Del awa r e hunte r s 

came to warn t he white me n that the Comanches were going to 

kill t hem , and Torrey and Eld r edge again summoned their 

guides and demanded to know the truth . Shaw then replied 

that he had lied , hoping to spar e them as l ong as possibl e 

f r om knowing of t he ir peril , but the truth was _ that the 

c ouncil was unanimously clamoring fo r the death of the white 

men . All of the chiefs who had a r ight t o speak had al r eady 

52John Henr y Brown , Histor y of Texas fr om 1 685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893 ) , II , 270 . 

53 I bi d . , p . 268 . 
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spoken, favoring execution, with the sole exception of 

Pahayuca, who was yet to speak . No one knew his opinion in 

the natte r, and Shaw doubted that he had enough influence to 

save the white men even if he were so disposed . Shaw and 

Conner said that they had done all that they could , even 

telling the council that they would die with the white nen , 

for they had pr omised the White Father that they would care 

f or his messengers and neve r return without them . 54Acoquash 

had been equally loyal , co~ing at noon , with tears in his 

eyes , to tell the m that they would be put to 55 death . The 

Waco chief had plead for the lives of the wh i te man , saying 

that they were messengers of pea ce under the protection of 

the white flag , and to kill them would be to provoke the 

wrath of the Great Spirit , but the Comanches had been un­

moved , and Acoquash , too , swore to die with Thomas Torrey 

and t he o hers . 56 

The prisoners decided upon the only co urse of action 

left them . Each had two pistols , and they intended, when 

the Comanches should come for them , that each would kill an 

Indian with one pistol and use the other on himself to 

54 
Ibid ., pp . 270- 271 . 

55 r tid ., p . 271 ; and Koebig , loc . cit. 

56John Henry Brown , History of Texas from 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893) , II , 271 . 
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escape tor ture . Fr om noon to four o ' clo ck not a wor d was 

spoken in t he counci1 . 57 The men sat thr ough the long afte r ­

noon , a pistol in each hand , awaiting the ir sentence . At 

four o'clock they hea r d the voice of Pahayuca as he ad ­

dressed the council, but they could unde r stand nothing of 

what he said . 58Then other voices r ang out , and occasional ly 

hey heard the voices of the Delawar es . A l i t t l e later 

there was a confusion of sounds , and the f r iends thought 

that their end was at hand . 59John Tor rey's stor y of what 

happened next , as told by ne wspape r editor Ernst Koebig , 

recounts that 

he r e ca me what was for them a ghastly silence wh i ch 
was interrupted by thei r old f r iend , Ac oquash , 
plunging into the tent , tearful and unable to 
speak . All three had jumped up , cocked pistols 
in hand , fo r they believed their f r iend had 
co me , as he had promised , to die with them . 60 Then came the Delaware guides crying , 11 Saved ! " 

Pale and silent , the friends , r ed me n and white , fel l t o 

57 Ibid ., p . 272 ; and Koebig , lac . c i t . 

58Koeb ig , loc . cit . 

59John Henry Br own , Histor y of Texas f r om 1 685 t o 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893 ) , I I , 272 . 

60Tra ns lation f r om the Ge r man of "Lebenslauf Ski zze , " 
Koebig , lac . cit . This source me ntions only thr ee white men 
in the party , Eld r edge , Bee , and John To r rey . John Torr ey 
told the story to editor Koebig forty - four yea r s after i t 
happened and afte r Thomas Torrey ' s death . The omission of 
Thomas could have been an oversight or the faul t of John 
Torrey ' s memory after so long a time , but his othe r details 
coincide well with other accounts of the jour ney . 
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earth , each giving thanks without wor ds fo r his 

delive r ance . 61 

Pahayuca had s poken for t heir lives, es pous ing the 

cause of me rcy and t he sanctity of the white fla g , and his 

wi_l had been follow ed by a small majori ty of the 

warriors . 62Afte r dark the Texans hea r d the voice of Pahayuca 

spoken 1n tones of command . The interpreters told them that 

the great chie f wa s wa r ning the Comanches that the wh ite men 

we r e ' de r his pr otection and t ha t death would be the 

penalty for doing them ha r ~ . 63 The Comanche chief had one 

hund red of his warri or s surr ound the Texans 1 s tent for their 
64 pr otection . The next morning , the white me n were invited to 

the c ounc il and there they conveyed Hous ton ' s message of 

f r iends h i p and invita ti on to the grea t council a t Bird' s 

Fort . The a ppointed date of the council was a lready at 

hand , but t he Texans suggested sending runners ba ck to have 

the council delayed . The Comanches de clined the invitation 

to the gr ea t c ouncil , but entered i nto a temporary t r eaty 

of peac e with t he Texans , which Eldredge and Pahayuca 

61 Koebig , loc . cit . 

62 Ibid . ; and John Henry Brown, His tory of Texas f r om 
1685 to 1E"§2(St . Louis : Be cktold and Company , 1893) , II , 
272 - 273 . 

63 Ibid . , p . 273 . 
64 

Ibid . ; and Koebig , loc . cit . 
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signed fo r t he ir r espective nations and Thoma s Torrey 

witnessed . 65 The comm issioners distri buted t he pr esents 

br ought for the Comanches and pr epa r ed for the cere mony of 

r etur nin g the Cor:ianche children , .Maria and William Hoclcley , 
66 to their pe ople . 

The Comanche girl had not been at a ll eage r to return 

to the ndians , and her del iver y was a hea rtbreaking exper i ­

ence for the corn.:nis s ioners . She was only eleven or twelve 

yea r s of age , and during her stay among the white pe ople , 

she com pletely forgot the Comanche language . The boy , wh o 

was not :iuch olde r than rlaria , s ti l l r eta ined his knowl edge 

of h i s nat ive tongue and had qu ickly rev erted to t he 

I nd i an's styl e of dr ess after leav i ng t he settlements , but 

he too exhi bi ted some shyness of the Comanches . 67 Throug hout 

the long t ri p , Maria ' s mood had changed to despair whe never 

a r eport came t hat the Co rm. nches mi ght be near. Whe n the 

i kel i ho od of finding he r people seemed r emote , her r elief 

and joy we r e evident fro m he r d emeanor . When the commiss ion 

65Ar mistice Signed by Comanche and J . C. Eldredge , 
August 9 , 1843 , in Winfrey ,.£.£· c i t. , pp . 228 - 22 9 . 

66 John Henry Br own , Histo r of Texas from 168 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Be ckto ld and Company , 1 93 , II, pp . 27 3-
274. 

67John Henry Br own , Hi s t ory of Texas fro m 1685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Be cktold and Company , 1893 ), II, 264; and 
'J":'w. Wil bar ge r , Indian Depredat i ons in Texas (Austin : 
Hut chings Printing House , 1889) , pp . 186- 188 . 
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finally reached Pahayuca's village , the child tried to avo id 

notice and kept as close as poss ible to the me n who had 

br ought he r . Howev er, he r appea r ance caused a gr eat 

sensation , fo r the Comanches r ecognized he r as t he daughter 

of heir former head chief wh o had died in battl e with t he 

Texans in 1840 . She was , i n fact , the royal princess , 

10- sa-c o- oi - ash , but this go od fortune was of no comfo r t to 

~a r ia . Bill also kept close to t he co r:un issioners, and , 

although he knew the Comanche langua ge , refused to utter a 

word to his peopl e unt il t he gr ea t chief Pahayuca returned 

to t he village and gr ee ted the boy in the unmista kable tone 

of authority . Bill answe r ed a t once , and thereafter the boy 

was truly a Comanche again and r eturned to the white men 

only when he was needed to take part in the c eremony of his 

r e turn to the t ribe . 

The com.m i ss i oners took some pains to clothe and 

ornament a ria for t he cere mony , pa inting her face and 

adorning her with beads as befitted a Comanche pr incess . 

Torrey and h i s companions even taxed their ingenuity to make 

a dress of fla ming - red calico for the child . He r hair was 

plaited smoothly and decor a ted with ribbon , and she wor e a 
68 

wreath of wild flow er s on her head . When the time came to 

hand he r over to the Comanches , all of the men , including 

68 rb i d ., pp . 188-189 . 
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few appropriate wor ds and attempted to place the ha~ds of 

the two children in the hand of the chief, but Maria broke 

away , begg ing he r f ri end not to g ive he r to the Indians . 

73 

mhe child had lived in the hone of some whi te settle r s s ince 

he r capture and had learned to f ee l the same fear tha t the 

settlers felt of the Comanches . Aft er a consultation with 

his companions , Eldredge asked the chief to give him the 

child and pr omised to care for h er as long as he lived, but 

t he chief r efused . In he r adult yea r s she served he r pe ople 

as interprete r in their councils with the white man , but the 

last thing tha t the commissioners hea r d as they l eft the 

Comanche village were the sobs of the unwilling princ ess . 70 

Knowing t hat Houston would be disappointed and 

impatient if they did not r etur n before the c ouncil 

adjourned , the Texans decided to separ a te for the r eturn 

t rip , with Eld r edge and Bee st r iking a dir ect co urs e to 

Bir d's For t , gu id ed by Jim Second - Ey e . Torr ey vol unt ee r ed 

to take the slower r oute and ga ther up the Indians whom they 

had met earlier on their journey and bring them in to the 

council . Jim Shaw and John Con...~er ac c ompanied Torrey . 

69John Henry Br own , History of Texas f r om 1 685 to 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893 ) , II , 27 4 . 

70 Wilba r ge r , ££· cit ., p . 190 . 
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Thomas Torrey was anxious to get back t o t he settlements 

afte r his long absence and told El dr edge t ha t he would make 

eve r y effort to hasten the Indians a l ong the way . 71The men 

star ted their journey hor::eward with the knowl edge tha t their 

mission had been largely successful . Although the Coma~ches 

had refused to attend the great c ounc i l , t hey had declared 

t hecse lves f r iends of the Texans and pr omised to c ome in the 

nex· year and make a fo r mal peace t r eaty with the 
72 

r epublic . 

The Indian agent reached Bir d ' s Fo r t saf el y with a 

delegation of Ind ians ,73and , soon afte r his r etur n , went out 

again on a business trip to locate a s i te f or a new trading 

house . He was accompanied by George Ba r na r d , who had been 

a fellow membe r of the Santa Fe Expedition and was asso c i ­

ated with the firm of orrey and Br others . On the retur n 

t r i p along the Br azos , Thomas Torrey sickened and , on 
74 

September 28 , 1843 , died . Ma ny months of h i s brie f thr ee 

71John Henr y Brown , Histor y of Texas f r om 1685 t o 
1892 (St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1893) , II , 275 ; and 
Letter to Sam Houston from J . C. Eld r edge , De cember 8 , 
1843 , in Winfrey , .2..£ • cit ., p . 273 . 

72Ar mistice signed by Comanches and J . C. El dr edge , 
Aug us t 9 , 1843 , in Winfrey , 2-E· cit ., pp . 228 - 229 . 

73 John Henr y Brown , Indian Wa r s and Pi one er s of Texas 
(St . Louis : Nixon- Jones Pr inting Co mpany , Becktold Pr inting 
and Mfg . Co . Binders , L . E. Daniel Publisher) , pp . 94- 95 . 

74 
\·l e b b ( e d • ) , et a 1. , 1 o c • c it . 



75 

yea r s as a Texan were spent in service to his new country , 

first on the Santa Fe Expedition and then on the journey to 

the CoI!la.nches . Through the efforts of Thomas S . Torrey and 

Josep~ C. Eld r edge , Houston's message of pea ce and friend ­

ship reached the Comanches , and a period of pea c e came to 

the bleeding f r ontier . 



CHAPTER V 

JA1 ES NASH TORREY 

In 1841, when James ash To rrey was twenty years of 

age , he left his native Connecticut fo r Te xas , whence he had 

been pr eceded by his brothe r s , John , David, and Thoma s . 1 

~istorian John Henry Brown r emembe red James Torrey as a 

gallant and estimable young man , possessing both social and 

soldierly vir tues . 2 James ' s sold i erly qualities came to the 

fo r e the yea r afte r he came to Texas , when he voluntee r ed 

fo r what late r became known as the Mie r Expedit ion . 3 On this 

mil ita r y venture , Jaraes fa r ed ev en wo r se than h i s br ot he r, 

Tho~as , had on the Santa Fe Exped ition the pr evious yea r . 

Howeve r , as homas J . Gr een , a fellow membe r of the Mie r 

1 
John Henr y Br own , H;....;;;i ...;.s....;t....;o...;;;r;..u._...,o,,...,f....-:=-=T ..... e_x_a-=s=-f...;.r...,o=-=m="""'"l_68_.:;.5_ t_o_ l_8-"--2 

(St . Louis : Becktold and Company , 1 93 , II , 27 • 
2 

John Henr y Br own , ~I....;n...;.d...;;;i~a....;n,;;_W~a....;r~s.;;__a_n...;.d......;;;P...;;;i~o~n_e~e....;r~s~~o_f..,....T~e...,x_a_s 
(St . Louis : 'ixon- Jones Pr inting Company , Be cktold Printing 
and Book Mf g . Co . Binde r s , L . E . Danie l l , Publishe r n . d . ) , 
pp . 94- 95 . 

3J a cob F . Wolters , Dawson ' s Men and t he Mier 
Exped ition (Houston : The Union Na tional Bank , 1927 ), p . 11 ; 
D. W. C. Baker, A Texas Sc r ap- Book (New Yo r k : A. S . Barnes 
and Company , 1875) , p . 129 ; A. J . Sowell , Range r s and 
Pionee r s of Texas (San Antonio : Sheppa r d Br os . and Co ., 
Pr inters and Binde r s , 1884 ) , p . 43 ; Aff idavit of James 
Torr ey ' s Serv ice on Mie r Expedi tion , s i gned by Ben T. Hill , 
Adjutant Gene r al , Septembe r 9 , 1850 , and William Ryan , 
Company Commande r , Sept embe r 24 , 1850 , in Ar chives Division , 
~xas State Librar y , Austin , Texas ; The Northe r n St andar d 
L.9la r ksville] , Jul~ 5 , 1845 , ..I; . 1 , c ol . 3 ; and Texas 
a ti ona l Regis t e r LWashington_J , June 19 , 1845 , p . 2, col . 2 . 
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gr oup , said , James Torr ey was "q_uite a youth, but 1n s pirit 
4 

a giant , " and he bo r e his mi sfor tune sto ically. 

Afte r the Sant a Fe Exped ition, the lex icans made 

r etaliatory r aids in Texas , and the Mie r Ex pedition gr ew out 

of the Texan counteraction . In Janua r y , 1 842 , Gene r a l 

:a r iano Arista addr essed a statement to t he people of Texas , 

threatening Mexican invasion . The statement r ea ched Texas 

about the sa~e time as the news of the f ate of t he Santa Fe 

Expedition . The Texa ns , especially those who had r elatives 

among the Santa Fe prisone rs, we r e incensed . In Ma rch , 

1842 , when a small force of Mexicans captured San Anton io , 

held it a few days , and withd r ew , the Texans were gr ea tly 

ala r med , and there was a strong demand for a ction . 5 When 

t hat action finally came , J ames Torrey was a part of it , and 

the sincerity of h i s feel ing fo r t he Texan cause is appa r ent 

from h i s dete r mina tion not to turn back until t he Texans had 

struck a blow in vengeance . Texan volunteers converged on 

San Antonio , chose Gene r a l Edward Burleson as their 

coCTII1ander, and pro posed to march on Mexico . Hous ton, who 

apparently wanted to avoid battle with Mexico if poss ible , 

4 Thomas J . Green , Journal of the Texian Exped ition 
A~ainst 1ier (New York : Harper and Brothe r s , Publishers , 
1 45) , p . 172 • 

5Louis J . Wortham , A History of Texas from Wilderness 
to Commonweal th (Fort Worth : 1r/o rtham- olyneau.x Company , 1924) 
IV , pp . 92 - 93 . 
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sent General Alexande r Somerville to command the fo rce . It 

was customary fo r the volunteers to choose their l eade r and 

they r efused to accept Somerville's authori ty . Burleson 

disbanded his a r my and returned to his home . Texas did not 

send a force against :exico until afte r the Mexicans 

cap ured San Antonio a se cond time . I n September ½exica n 

troops unde r the command of General Ad rian Woll held San 

Antonio briefly , this time taking Texan pr i soners when they 

retreated . Contributing to the wrath a r oused in the Texans 

was a force of abou 4 four hundred Me xicans that inte rc epted 

a small group of exan volunteers led by Nicolas Dawson 

headed for San Antonio . Desp ite the attempt of the Texans 

to surrender , the .exicans kept up their artillery fire 

until almost all of Dawson ' s men were dead . This time there 

was no holding the Texans back , and Houston again dispatched 

Somerville to San Antonio to take charge of the volunteers 

gathering t he r e . But Somerville was in no great hurry to 

pursue the r etreating Wol l . 6 

James Torr ey was mus tered into Captain William Ryan ' s 

company as a private on October 17 , 1842 , furnishing his own 

horse and equipment . 7 The r e was some delay before young 

Torrey was to have a chance , as he expr essed it , to fight 

6 
Ibid . , pp . 93- 98 . 

7Affidavit of Jame s Torrey ' s Service on Mi er 
Expedition , loc . cit . 
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f or the glo r y of h i s count r y , 8for it was mi d - Novembe r before 

Somerville led his seven- hund r ed - and - fifty - man a r my out of 

San Antonio , and it was late Dec~mbe r bef or e the dete r mi ned 

co r e of the force engaged the Mexicans in battle . 9 Supplies 

for the a r my were scanty , and the r oute by wh i ch Some r ville 

chose to reach the border , whe ther by accident or design , 

led through the difficult and discourag i ng te r ra i n of a 

S',·rampy a r ea known as Devil's Bog . The mounts f r equent ly 

sank in o the mire belly deep . But despite the dis c omforts , 

orr ey and his felloN soldiers we r e not easily d i shear tened . 

On Dece mbe r 7 , the column reached the vic inity of 

a r edo and the men expected to atta ck that city , but 

Somerville did not order his men ac r oss the Rio Grande . 

Only the i r re pr essible Thomas Gr een and a f ew othe r s crossed 

the rive r and pl anted a Texas flag at a l i ttle place cal l ed 

Galveston . Somerville ma r ched his a r my a r ound fo r approx i ­

mately a week , crossing the bo r de r once f or a short wh ile ; 

then he ordered the men to r etur n to the ir homes . 

James To rrey and some thr ee hund r ed othe r voluntee r s 

r ef used to ma r ch home . They el e c ted William S . Fi sh er to 

lead them and pr oceeded down the Rio Gr ande t o t he h ill s 

opposite the Mexican town of Mi er . The r e t hey established 

8 Wolte r s , lac . cit .; and Th omas J . Green , l ac . c it . 

9wolters , oc . c it ., pp . 6-7 . - --
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camp . A patrol dete r mined that t he r e we r e no soldie rs in 

. ier , and he Texans , who were in need of pr ovisions , 

ma r ched into the town . The al ca l de surrende r ed pr omptl y and 

unconditionally , and promised to send food supplies to the 

mexans . \hile the Texans waited fo r the supplies , the 

~ex ican Gene r al Ampudia moved into the a r ea with a large 

force . A exan patrol r eport ed the pr esence of Ampudia's 

r oops , and the Texans , unde r the cove r of da r kness , moved 

against ~ae r immediately , leaving thirty men to gua rd their 

10 camp . The volunteers had a brush with enemy lookouts about 

11 a mile f r om the river , but they pushed on into the town, 

dr iving Ampudia ' s men before them . In Mie r the voluntee r s 

made contact with the main body of the Mex ican sol die rs , and 

fi gh ting raged in the streets . The :-lexicans had a rtille r y 

set up in the pl aza , and this became the objective of the 

Texans , who br oke into a build i ng at the end of a block and 

made their way towa r d the plaza by going f rom one building 

to the next thr ough the ado'be walls until they r ea ched the 

last building , f r onting on the squa r e . The Texan riflemen 

dealt heavily with t~e a r tille r y fo rc es in the pl aza . The 

lOibid ., p . 7 ; and Wil liam P . Stapp , The Prisone r s of 
Perote : A'"""'Journal Ke t b· the Autho r 1'lho Was Ca tur ed b 
the Me x i cans at ~ier De cember 25, 1 2 2 and Rel eased f r om 
?erote '-la y 16 , 1844 ( Pniladelphia : G. B. Ziebe r and Company , 
l o45) , p . 32 . 

11 Stapp , loc . cit . 
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battle went so badly for the Mexicans that Ampudia was on 

the point of r et r eating from the town , but he ma de one last 

attempt o h old out by send ing a Texan pris one r to the 

invade r s under a white fl ag with the false information that 

t eir posit i on was h opeless because Am pud ia had been 

substant i al l y r e - enforc ed and more hel p was on the way . 

After much debating , a part of the men decid ed to 
12 

surrend er . F i she r was of the opi n ion t ha t if they chose to 

fight their way out , pr obably n o more t han a third of them 

wold rea ch the border. Some of t he men still f avored 

taking their chances in battle, r ecalling th e fate of the 

Santa Fe priso~ers and of Dawson ' s men , but when half of 

their c omrades fil ed out to the plaza and laid down their 

a r ms , the r ema inde r had little choice . 13The r eaction of 

t hese die - ha r ds was desc ri bed by Green : 

In the count enance s of those whom Colonel Fisher' s 
spee ch did not induce to surrende r, we r e disappoint ­
ment , sorr ow , r age : many she d tea r s , some swore, 
wh i le others mainta ined a sullen dete r mination , 
wh ich showed that they we r e pre pared for the 
wor st . 14 

From seve r al Texans whom the Mexicans had ca ptured earli er 

in t he battle , the Texans learned that Ampudia was pr epar ed 

12 
Wolters , .2.E. • cit ., pp . 7-8. 

13Gre en , .2.E. · cit. , pp . 164-165 . 
14Ibid ., p . 103 . 
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to r et r eat f r om the city had they r efused to surrende r . 1 5 

f the 261 exans who had taken par t in the battle , 

t en we r e killed and 23 wounded . The Mex ican force had be en 

2 , 3 0 ill nunbe r and their casualties we r e , a ccording to 

A~pudia's official r eport , 430 kil led and 230 se r iously 

wounded . Perhaps their ne a r victo r y over the numerically 

supe r io r force r evived the confidence of t he Texans , fo r 

they began at once to plan an es c a pe . Cn their long ma rch 

towa r d Nex co City , they watched for their opportunity . 

Afte r six weeks , the time ca o e . Ea rl y in the mo r ning on 

Febr ua r y 11 , at the Hacienda del Salado , the prisone r s made 

their br eak , r ushing and overpowering their gua r ds and 

seizing rifles and ho r ses . Seve r al of the Texans were 

killed in the escape , but James Torrey came thr ough the 

skirmish safely . The Texans rode furiously for the border, 

but made the mistake of leaving the ma in road in an attempt 

to avoid iexiaan eoldier0 . Th~y were soon loBt nnd without 

food or water . When their horses br oke down , the me n 

slaughte r ed them , ate the flesh and d r ank the blood to 

quench their thirst . They continued on foot , finally ev en 

abandoning their weapons for la c k of st r ength to c a rry t hem . 

So~e of the men fo r med search pa r ties which went off in 

seve r al direction , t r ying to find water . The Texans 

1 5stapp , .<2..:£ · ci t . , p . 37 . 
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wandered fo r six days and nights without wate r . Some went 

16 
mad and others died . n Febr ua r y 1 8 , 1843 , the main body of 

~en spotted a campfire , and , thfnking it was a signal f r om 

one of the search parties , st~~bled into the cam p of a 

}exican patro1 . 17Torrey was not t aken with this group . He 

must have been on one of the search parties . Five of the 

escapees actua ly rea ched Texas . The others who surv i ved 

were hunted down and brought i n . 18 Youth and a strong , 

healt y constitution stood Torrey in good stead , for he 

survived almost two weeks longer in the wilds , only to be 

recaptured and placed in irons with the rest of his 

coopanions on Ma rch 3 . 19 

wo hundred and four Texans had escaped f r om the 

~acienda del Salado , but when the 'ex icans finish ed r ounding 

up the prisoners , there were only one hund r ed and seventy , 

death having claimed most of the missing men . The prisone r s 

were returned to Salado , where they learned that one - tenth 

of the m would be shot by order of Santa Anna . In the cente r 

of the plaza , the Mex icans placed an ea r then jar containing 

one hund r ed and seventy beans , seventeen of which were black , 

16 
Wolters , 2.£ · cit ., pp . 9 - 10 . 

17 Green , 2.£ • cit . , pp . 164- 165 ; and Wol te r s , 2.£· cit ., 
p . 10 . 

18 
Wolters , .2.E · cit . , p . 10 . 

19 Gr een , .2.E · cit . , p . 167 . 
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the !'e :::::.'.l inde r white . The _exans drew lots to see who should 
2 

die . A handke rchief was folded over the mouth of the jar to 
2.J. conceal the color of the beans , and each of the Texans 

appr oached the jar and drew in tur n as their names we re 

ca led , until all of the black beans were drawn . Khen James 

Torrey's turn came to draw , he dipped into the jar and drew 
22 the death symbol . Torrey said that he had fought for the 

glo r y of his country and that he was willing to die fo r he r 

glo r y . He turned to a .M:exican offi c er and said , "Afte r the 

battle of San Jacinto, my family took one of your prisoner 

youths , r a i sed and educated him , and this is our r equital . 1123 

The execution t ook place im~ed iately after the dr awing . The 

seventeen we r e divided i nto two parti es and first nine , then 
24 

eight were lined up and shot . The next day , wh en the 

20 
Wolters , .Q.:Q.• cit ., p . 10 ; and Green , QE • ill•, 

p . 169 . 
21 Stapp , £.P.· ~it ., p . 72 . 
22Hubert Howe , History of Texas and the No r th Mexican 

States (Sa~ Francisco : The Histor y Company, Publishers , 
1e90) , II , 368 ; Home r S . Thrall , A Picto r ial History of 
Texas from the Earliest Visits of Euro pean Adventur ers to 
A. D. 1879 (St . Louis : i . J . hp.mps on a nd Co:npany , 1879 ) , 
p . 331 ; The Northern Standard LClarksville] , Februa ry 10 , 
1844 , p . 1 , col . 2 ; Stapp , 2.1?. · cit ., p . 74 ; and Green , £.P. · 
Cit . , p . 444 . 

23wo l ters , .£.£ · cit ., p . 11. 
24 Stapp , £.P. · cit ., p . 73 . 
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pr i soners we r e r emoved fr om Salado , t hey saw t he cor pses 

st 1 ly i ng whe r e they had fa l len . 25 

Dur ing the Mexican wa r , duty led Gen e r a l Walter P . 

Lane and his r egiment of range r s past the Hacienda de l 

Salado . Ee stopped long enough t o make t he Mex i cans d i g u p 

the r e~ains of the seventeen execut ed Texans and pack t hem 

on nu es . Those r elics we r e t r ansport ed to La Grange , whe r e 

they we r e inte r red with honor and ce r emony on !v' onument 

Hil1 . 26This cemetery of he r oes is also t he f inal r es ting 
27 pl ace of Thomas _or rey . 

James To r rey left no will , but in 1850 , John F . 

_or rey r eceived , for the estate of James Torrey , about s i x 

hund r ed do l a r s as pay due the de ceased br othe r fo r mi l itar y 
28 

se r v ic e on t he l¼ie r Expedition . I n 1852 John Torrey , as 

administ r ato r of the estate petition ed Theodor e Koes t er , 

Cocnal County Judge , for the gov er nment l ands due James in 

25 Ibid . , p . 75 . 
26 

J . H. Wil ba r ge r , I ndian Depr eda tions i n Texa s 
(Austin : Hutchings Pr inting House , 1889 ) , p . 351 ; 1 . R. 
Weyl and and H. Wade , History of Ea r ly Fayette County (La 
Gr ange , Texas : La Gr ange Jour nal Plant , 1936 ) , p . 173 ; 
William S . Spee r and John P.enr y Brown (eds . ) , Encycl opedia 
of the New West (Ma r shall , Texas : The Un i ted States 
Biographical Publishing Company , Hodge and Jennings Bros . , 
Proprietors , 1881) , p . 311 . 

27 Williams and Br own (eds . ) , lac . cit . 
28Affidavit of James Tor rey ' s Serv i ce on Mi er 

Exped i tion , lac . cit . 



consideration for his military se r vice . The heirs of the 

estate were Jacob N. Torrey , father, and brothers Abraham , 
29 Tudor, George , and John . 

29 comal County Probate File Number 103 , Febr ua r y 11, 
1852 . 
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CHAPTER VI 

JOEN F . ORREY ' S 'EW BRAUNFELS YEA RS 

The Eouston me r chant and Indian t r ade r , J ohn Torrey , 

beca~e a prominent figure in the Ge r man corru;::unity of New 

Br aunfels . He made his home the r e fo r many yea r s , c oncen­

t r at · ng his abundant ene r gy upon h i s business ventur es in 

tha town . 1 To r r ey conside r ed that his r esidence in New 
2 

3r aunfe s began in the yea r 1846 , but fo r several yea r s 

afte r that he continued his Indian t r ade and othe r busi­

nesses in the state . John Torrey , whom Br own called " the 

pe r sonification of enterprise , " \ms Kell kn o.,_.,..n fo r tha t 

4 cha r acteristic aLd for his great energy . He demonst r ated 

both of these qualities dur ing his New Br aunfels years . 

To r rey fi r st went to New Br aunfels in connection with the 

Torrey Company contract to transpo r t settle r s f r om the coas t 

1oscar Haas , "John Torrey Figur ed in Local Wa r time 
Ec onomic St r uggle , " New Br aunfe l s Herald , De cember 11 , 1962 . 

2Deposition of John F . Torr ey in the case of Clemens , 
Blum , and Runge vs . Landa , Decembe r 10 , 1882 , ent r y 2 (Oscar 
Haas Archives , ew Braunfels) . 

3 John Henr y BroKn , Indian Wa r s and Pionee r s of Texas 
(St . Louis : Nixon - Jones Pr inting Company , Becktold Printing 
and ~fg . Co . Binde r s , L . E . Daniell , Publishe r [n . d] ) , 
pp . 94- 95 . 

4
1 . E. Dani ell , Texas the Countr and Its Men (@_ . pJ 

L . E. Daniell , Publisher , n . d . , pp . 7 9- 752 ; Dallas He r ald , 
August 31 , 1872 , p . 1 , co . 6 ; and John F . To r rey Papers 
(~S . in rchives Collection , Un iversity of Texas Libra ry) . 
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to the town site . 5 The trading house which he established 

there a~d his first grist mill were among the early busi -

6 nesses of the co:n.munity . In 1851 he married Laura Dittmar , 

... he daughter of a lew Br aunfels pioneer family . 7 On the 

Co~a- River he built and twice restored a mill and be gan the 

first mechanized industry in the s tate . 8 Torrey ' s Comal 

River industries we r e ioportant in the local struggle fo r 

eccnoCTic survival during the Civil ~a r . 9 

I n 1844 Bar on von r-1e usebach , the r epresentative of 

the Verein, the German organization which promoted the 

establishment of New Braunfels , made a contract with the 

Torrey brothers to trans port the German immigrants f r om 

Indianola to the settlement location . This agreement 

brought John Torrey to the town site with the first settle r s 
10 in 1845 or soon after their arrival . He sold his teams and 

5Ernst Koebig , "Lebenslauf Skizze , 11 Neu- Braunfelse r 
Zeitung , Janua ry 27 , 1887 , p . 2 . 

6 
_bid . ; and Haas , loc . cit . 

7Raas , loc . cit . ; and Comal County Marr iage Records , 
Deceober 10 , 1851, Vol . A, p . 232 . 

8naniell , loc . cit .; Charles Merrit Bar nes , Combats 
and Conquests of Immortal Heroes (San A~tonio : Guessaz and 

erlet Company , 1910), p . 261 ; and Walte r P . Hebb (ed . ) , ~ 
al . , The Handbook of Texas (Austin : The Texas State 
Historical As s ociation, 1952) , II , 790 . 

9~aas , loc . cit . 
1°Koebig, loc . cit . ; Haas , loc . cit .; Daniell , loc . 
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wagons to the e r ein and established a t r ading house and 

gene r al me r chandise store, which he operated fi r st at the 

corner of San Antonio and Hil l Streets on wha t was known as 

·he B essing lot and late r , in 1847 , moved to a lot on the 

tow~ square . he ag r eement wh ich or rey made for the use of 

t e Blessing lot must have been verbal , fo r there is no 

r eco rd of his lease of the lot . The exact date of the 

es ablishment of the store is unknown , but the original 

oKner of the l ot , Henr y Blessing , purchased it in 1846 .
11 

orrey employed George Pfeuffer , who l a ter became a state 

senator , as a clerk _n the trading house . 12Torrey also built 

a ho r se - powe r ed mill , which was completed in time to grind 

the set lers 1 s first crop of corn . The cha r ge fo r grinding 

the corn was ten cents a bushei . 13 

In 1ay , 1847 , Torrey leased a lot on the plaza f r om 

Penelope Hunter for thirty dollars a yea r . He was to have 

cit . ; John F . Torrey Papers (MS . in Ar chives Collection , 
Univer3ity of Texas Library); and Torrey Family Documents 
(~rs . Curtis T. Vaughan , San Antonio , Texas) , Biographical 
Sketch of John Torrey , by his son , Henry Torrey . 

11Koe big , loc . cit . ; and Oscar Haas , 11 Torrey Builds 
Store on Plaza , Grist - Saw Hill on Comal River , 11 New 
Braunfels Herald , December 25 , 1962 . 

12Koebig , loc . cit . ; and L. E. Daniell , Types of 
Successful •1en of--exas-rAus tin : E . von Bee ckman , Printer , 
1890) , p . 575 . 

13 Koebig , loc . cit . 
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the privilege , at the termination of the lease , t o r e~ove 

the store which he pro posed to build the r e or sell to Mr s . 

Hun er at its a ppraised value . Mr s . Hunte r stipulated that 

the lot should not be sublet without he r pe r mission and 

14 shoul not be used for a tavern or boarding house . The 

bui ding which Torrey ccnst r ucted stood on the lo t until 

5 929 . 

John To rrey ' s next ventur e in ew Br aunfels was to 

u ilize the water power of the Comal fo r a gr ist and saw 

mi 1 . n January 1 , 1848 , he leased and later purchased 

almost two acres of land at the unctur e of the Comal River 

and the Comal Creek , designated lot No . 300 . Hermann Sp i ess , 

as agent for the Verein , tur ned the lot ove r to Torre y f or a 

five - yea r pe r iod at a rental fee of seventy- five dollars a 

yea r . he lease provided that Torr ey could build a mill on 

the river , at or nea r the fal l s . If he so chose, Torrey 

had the right to terminate the lease at the end of one year, 

and if the erein wished to r eclaim the land at t he end of 

the five yea r s , he could remove the mil l which he was to 

er ect the r e or sell it to the organization . Otherwise he 

14co~al County Deed Re cord s , May , 1847 , Vol . A , p . 
300 . 

15oscar Haas , "Torrey Signs with Emig r a tion Society 
to Build Mill on CoIBal , " rew Braunfels He r ald , January 1, 
1963 . 
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was to have t he privil edge of cor. t inuing h i s l ease a t a r ent 

equal to any highes t offe r which the Ve r ein migh t r e c e · ve . 16 

n the same day that he leased the mil l site , Torr ey 

ente r ed an agr eement with Willis E. Pa r ks . Pa r ks agr eed to 

put up one - thi r d of the capital necessa r y fo r t he c onst r uct ­

ion of a grist and saw ~111 fo r a one - thir d i nte r est i n t he 

conc er ~ , including the lease , and he was t o r e ce i ve one ­

th ird of the pr ofits . !orrey was to furnish the r enain i ng 

two - thir ds of the capita l for that pr opo r t i on of the busi­

ness and its profits . This agreement was not filed with 

17 County Clerk , Conrad Seabaugh , until six months l ate r, 

when Geo r ge Stebbins bought inte r est in the mil 1 . 18To rrey 

and Pa r ks built a threi- sto r y f r ame building19and , i n the 

spr ing of 1848 , completed a 

16 
Ibid . ; and Comal Count y Deed Re cor ds , J anua r y 1 , 

1848 , ol~ p . 192 . 
17comal County Deed Reco r ds , June 27 , 1848 , Vol . A, 

p . 252 . 
18Geo r ge Stebbins , who , acco r d i ng to t he 1850 Co ma l 

County Census Report , came f r om John Torrey ' s nativ e state 
of Connecticut , was pr obably related to the Torreys . Thoma s 
mo rrey ' s middle name was Stebbins , and i t was apparentl y the 
custom of John's pa r ents to bestow family sur names as midd l e 
names for thei r sons . David To r rey ' s middle name , Kilbur n , 
·das his mother's maiden name . A younge r brothe r , Geo r ge , 
had the middle name , Bicknell , which was the maiden name of 
his paternal gr and mother . 

19oscar :{aas , "Torr ey Gr ist , Saw Mill Bur ns i n 1861 
Fir e ; Rebuilt in Stone , " New Br aunfels He r a l d , Janua r y 29 , 
1963 . 
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dam ac r oss the river below which the tur bi ne wate r wheels 
20 

we r e installed . 

Stebbins purchased lot No . 300 upon which Tor rey's 

mi stood on ~ay 22 , 1848 , f r om Gustavus Schleicher , 

trus ee for the erein, fo r $1 , 000 , subject , however , to the 

terms of Torrey's five year lease , dating from Janua r y 1 , 
21 

_8 8 . n June 27 , 1848 , Torrey surrendered his l ease on the 

lot to Stebbins for $2 , 00C and also granted him the use of 

the reills , dams , wa er co urs es , and other improvements fo r 

the r emainde r of the unexp r ed term of the lease . 22 stebbins 

bought Parks's third interest in the plant in October , 1848 , 
23, 

for $1 , 326 . Stebbins also became a partner in Torrey ' s Ne~ 

Braunfels trading house·. Both Stebbins and Torrey ' s names 

appeared on the lease agreement when the store was r ented to 

George H. Judson24and Moses Campbell in 1850 fo r three 

hundred dollars a year. 25 

20 John F . Torrey Deposition , 2-'Q. . Cit . , ent r y 4 . 

21 Comal County Deed Records , 1-iay , 1848 , Vol . A, 
p . 251 . 

22 Comal County Deed Records , June 27 , 1848 , Vol . A, 
p . 253 . 

23comal County Deed Records , October , 1848 , Vol . A, 
p . 525 . 

24 The Comal County 18 50 Census Repo r t lists Judson as 
a native of Connecticut . 

25comal County Deed Reco r ds , Octobe r , 1850 , Vol . B, 
p . 273 . 
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- orrey appa r ently maintained some interest in the 

mil • In a sworn statement some years late r , he said that 

while others had been associated with him and sha r ed 

nterest in the mill and factories from time to time , he 

had , from he time of the construction of the mill in 1848 

until its final des·ruction in 1872 , always r ese r ved to 

himself the sole res_onsibility for the supe r vision of i ts 

opera · on . 26He stated that he had rented the mill f r om 1848 
27 

to 1851 or 1852 , and on another occas·on he said that 

"alter A. Andross and Henry Abell we r e the pe r sons who had 

rented the CTill fro~ him during this time . 28 comal County 

records show that Stebbins entered into a cont r act or lease 

with Andross and Abe 1 , renting the Torrey mill to the two 

men for a ten year term , ending Kay 1 , 1859 , in r etur n fo r 

which Stebbins was to receive one - half of the pr of i ts of 

29 the mil l , but Andross and Abell did not operate i t for the 

entir e length of the contract . 

Andross had been an employee of Torrey and Br ot he r s 

26 John F . Torr ey Deposition , 2..12. · cit ., entry 11 . 

27 Ibid . 
28 Koebig , loc . cit . Both And r ess and Abel l a r e 

listed as natives of Conne c ticut in the 1850 c ensus . 

29comal County Deed Recor ds , May 1 , 1849 , Vol . A, 
p . 500 . 
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in Houston in 1845 . On May 18 , 1849 , John Torrey , as 

agent - in- f~ct for David K. Torrey and John F . Torrey of t he 

fir~ of To~rey and Brothers , gave Andress his power- of 

a to rney with full powe r of substitution to pe rform all acts 

pertain ng to the business of the firm or the busi~esses of 

John -orrey which were not connected with the firm . 30sho r tly 

afterward Torrey made the trip to California mentioned in 

Chap er I _ I . - t could have been the discovery o: gold whic h 

ured ohn ~orrey to California , but when he left Texas in 

September , 1849 , he did not plan to go all the way to 

California ; He and a }: r . Nugent , a corres pondent fo r the 

"ew York nerali , had planned to observe a pea ce talk between 

Ranger Captain Hays and a g r oup of Indians some distance 

west of El Paso . Although Hays ' s party intended to go on to 

California , Torrey and Nugent had made arrangements for a 

guide to bring them back to exas and expected to be gone no 

more than twenty-five days, but they d d not return as 
31 

expected . Torrey went through to 

30comal County Deed Reco r ds , May 18 , 1849 , Vol . A , 
p . 506 . 

31 John Henry Brown , Life and Times of Henr Smith the 
First American Governor of Texas Dallas : A. D. Aldridge and 
Company , Stereotypers , Print ers and Binders , 1887 ) , p . 378 ; 
and elegranh and Texas Register [Houston] , Febr uary 17 , 
1850 , p . 7 , col . 1 . 



Califor nia ,
32

but he was ba ck in ew Braunfels by October , 

185 . 33 
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\fhen Torr ey r etur ned fro m California i n 1850 he began 

· he first factory in the state : 

ndustrial pursuits on any la r ge r scale out side 
of manua_ handiwo r k of tradesmen we r e not yet known 
n Texas . The first facto r y of any conside ration , 

as fa r as history is concerned , was er ected at Jew 
Br aunfels by J . F . '::.orrey in 1850 . This was a 
door, sash and blind factory of so~e magn itude , 
considering t ose days . The fa c to r y was a thre e ­
s·ory frame building , the powe r fu r nished by t he 
Cor::.al , which r · ver ·,ras dammed so as to furnish 
suffic ent po~er for even greater establishment s 
than we r e brought into use in 1850 . 34 

orrey added the sash factory to the al r eady existing mil l 

plant . 35 r ederick Law Olmstead , who traveled through Texas 

and stopped at New Br aunfels about this time , ment ioned in 

his account the sash and blind factory under const ruct ion by 

tro ew England men who also planned to build a cotton 

factory . Olmstead also noted that Sunday was s trictly 

obse rved as a day of r est by the German community , with all 

stor es , ex cept fo r one owned by a New Englande r , r ema ining 

32Koebig , l oc . cit . 
33comal Co unty Deed Records , October, 1850 , Vol . B, 

p . 273 . 

L . E . 

341 . E. Daniell , Texas the Count r * and Its Men ([n . p] 
Daniell, Publisher, [n . d:J) , pp . 7 9- 752 . 

35 Koebig , loc . c it . 
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36 closed all day . The factory was apparently successful , and 

plans we r e underway to enlarge the ope r at ion in 1854 whe~ 

Torrey took complete control of the pro je ct . 37stebbins 1 s 

r eason for withdrawing could have been ill health , for he 
38 d ed about two yea r s later . Property listed in the 1854 

transaction between Stebbins and orrey included the sash 

~achine and all the ~plements and tools used in its opera ­

tion , all stock , fi~ish ed and unfinished , the tur ning l athe , 

a 1 accounts due to the sash works , all of the machinery of 

the gr ist and saw mills and all of the timber purchased fo r 
39 

the enla r gement of the building . After Stebbins 1 s death , 

Torrey purchased , fro~ the administrato r of the estate , a 

lease which his former partner had held on what was known as 
40 

the eramendi labor of land . This one hund r ed - and - seventy -

sever- ac r e piece of land was located dir ectly a cro ss the 

36 rederick Law Olmstead , A Journey Throueh Texas 
(New York : Mason Br others , 18 61; , pp . 178 , 181 . 

37 
Comal County Deed Reco r ds , Varch , 1854 , Vol . E , p . 

194 ; and Williams . Speer and John Henr y Brown ( eds . ), 
Encyclopedia of the New West (Marshall , Texas : The United 
States Biogra phical Publishing Company , Hodge and Jennings 
Bros . , Pr oprietors , 1881) , pp . 58 3- 584 . 

38comal County Deed Records , July , 1856 , Vol . P , 
p . 462 . 

39co:nal County Deed Re cords , .Ma rch , 1854 , Vol . E , 
p . 194 ; and Oscar Haas , ''Early Mill Has Thr ee Owners , " New 
Braunfels Herald , Janua r y 15 , 1963 . 

40comal County Deed Reco r ds , July , 1856 , Vol . P , 
p . 462 . 
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Comal from Torr ey ' s mill . It is possible that Torrey was 

antic _pating even great er expansion in the future . 

he year after he began the sash factory , morrey wed 

nineteen- yea r - old Laura ittmar , the eldest daughte r of Carl 

Ditt~ar .
41

At ~he time of the marriage , the Dittmars lived in 

Guadalupe County, but Laura had come originally from Hesse -

42 Dar mstadt , Germany . The couple we r e mar ried on December 10 , 

1851 , by Chief Justice Theodore Koeste r, wh o had come with 

the f rst settlers to the German community , se r ving as the 

chief oedical officer of the colony . 43The Torrey 1 s first 

chi d , E:r.ma , was bor n in 1854 , and a son , John , ~as born in 
44 

1857 . hese two children and five mo r e - - Edward , Henr y , 

Adela , Rose , and Cornelia --we r e still living at the time of 

John orrey 1 s death in 1893 . 45There were four other 

children , all boys , who died very young . 46 

41 Comal County Xa rriage Reco r ds , Vol . A, p . 232 ; and 
Bar nes , loc . cit . 

42 Comal County 1860 Census Repo r t ; and Comal County 
Marriage Records , Vol . A, p . 232 . 

43 Ibid . ; and L . E. Daniell , Texas the Country and It~ 
en ([n , pJ L . E . Daniell , Publisher , [n . d :J) , pp . 749 - 752 . 

44 Comal County 1860 Census Report . 

45Ba r nes , lee . cit . ; and John F . Torrey Pape r s (MS . 
in Archives Collection:-University of Texas Library) , 
Obituary otice . 

46Letter from John F . Torr ey to Joseph Faust , October 
20 , 1886 (Oscar Haas Archives , New Br aunfels ) . 



98 

In _8 54 John Torrey ' s fathe r, Jacob Nash Torrey and 

his ~hr ee younge r br othe r s --Tudor , Ab e , and George -- came t o 
47 

ew Br aunfe l s . Abe and the fathe r remained in New Br aunfels 

an we r e listed ·n the 1860 Comal census as r es i dents in 

ohn Torr ey ' s home . When the Civil Wa r came , two of John ' s 

brothe r s , Tudo r and Abe , volunt eer ed and fought for the 
48 Confederacy with the Comal County infant r y company . John 

orr ey was co!ID.issioned in 1862 as Com..::iissar y of Subsistence 

in the Th 'rty - Fi r s t Br_ga de with the r ank of maj or . 49what ­

ever the duties of the Subsistence Commissar y , they 

appa r ently did not take him away f r om New Braunfels , fo r he 

continued and even ex panded his Comal Rive r industries 

during the wa r . 50 

he lo ss of his four sons was not the only misfortune 

which st r uck John Torrey in New Br aunfels . His mill and 

facto r y ope r ations we r e struck by a series of natur a l 

d i sasters --fi re, to r nado , and flood --until Torrey , finall y 

47 Torrey Family Documents (Mrs . Curtis T. Vaughan , 
San Antonio) , Famil y Photo gr aph , 1854 . 

48os ca r Haas , 11 Early Mill Has Thr ee Owne r s , 11 New 
Braunfels Herald , January 15, 1963 . 

49Torrey Family Documents (Mrs . Curtis T. Va ughan , 
San Antonio) , John F . To rrey ' s Commission as Maj or , Ma rch 7, 
1862 . 

50comal County Deed Recor ds , Apr il 20 , 1863 , Vol . G, 
p . 575 . 



99 

defeated, gave up and left New Braunfels . In 1887 he 

r eturned to the town for a visit and whil e reminiscing with 

Er nst ··oebig , editor of the local newspape r, said that 

dur ing his years in New Braunfels he had battled ~-rith the 

ele~ents . Fire and wind he had overcome , but he had been 

defeated by floo1 . 51 

A f re broke out at four a .m. Novembe r 14, 1861, in 

orr ey 1 s mill bu lding . A flour mill had been added to the 

pant , an the os ses inc_uded a thousand bushels of wheat . 

_he building was a total loss and the mills and sash wo rks 

were des·royed , 52but Torrey began at once to rebuild . The 

new mi 1 building was entirely of stone 53and housed a saw­

mill w' th a sixty- inch saw , a wheat mill , two grist mills , 

a malt mill , and two cotton gins . 54The mill was completed in 

1862 . Torrey used an interesting sales device in that yea r , 

somewhat akin to the trading stamps of today . Coupcns 

marked with ~onetary denominations we re given to custome r s , 

apparently as an incentive to trade at the Torrey mills . 

When a customer had collected twenty coupons marked 11 0ne 

L . E . 

51 Koebig , loc . £.....! . 
52 eu- Braunfelser Zeitunp; , Novembe r 15 , 1861 . 

531 . E . Daniell , Texas the Countr* and It s Men ([n .pJ 
Daniell , Publisher , [n . d :.J ) , pp . 7 9- 752 • 

54John F . Torrey Deposition , .2..E · ill·, entry 6 . 
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olla r, 11 he could re deem them f er one dollar in currency , or 

if he co_lected enough coupons ma r ked "Twenty- Five Cents" to 

tota ten do _la r s in coupons , he could r edeem them fo r 

twenty- five cents in currency . 55 

exas had joined the Confede r a cy in 1861 . There we re 

few manufacturing concerns in the sta t e , but the blocade by 

nion fo rc es 8ade it imperative that ~anufa cturing be en­

couraged and expanded . 56Torrey and two partner s , Henr y and 

Ee r cann Runge , formed the Co~al Manuf a ct uring Company , and 

Torrey co~verted the uppe r floors of the mi l l to a cotton 

cloth facto r y . 57 his manufactur ing proj ect was s o important 

to the state that Torrey and his partne rs were authorized to 
58 import cachinery from Eur ope via Nexi co , dut y fr ee . The 

exas legislature also issued charte r s to some manufactur ing 

co~panies , and the pa r tne r ship agr eement between Torrey and 

the Runges i nd ica tes that the Comal Manufa cturing Company 

wa s so chartered : 

55 orrey Mills Coupons , numbe r s 198 and 128 , 
September 9 , 1862 . See illustration , page 101 . 

56L . E. Daniell , Texas the Countr~ and Its Men ([ n . p~ 
L . E. Daniell , Publishe r , [n . d ]) , pp . 7 9- 752 . 

57comal County Deed Records , April 20 , 1863 . 

58wal t e r p . Webb (ed . ) , e t al . , The Hand boolc of Texas 
(A us tin : The Texas State Hi storical Association , 1952) , I , 
790 ; and Hermann Seele , "Chronology of New Braunfels," 
Schuetze Jahrbuck , 1882 , p . 51 . 
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Contract ente r ed into .. . between John F . Torrey 
Henry Runge , He r mann A. H. RtL~ge re garding the ' 
establishment and conducting of a f actory for the 
manufactur e of cotton and wool en goods , of eith~ 
solely or mixed , to be carried on in ew Br aunfe_3 , 
Co~a County . t has been ag r eed that the said 
business be conducted as a limited partner sh i p or, 
under the charter f r om the State of Texas obtained 
during the last s ession of the Legislatur e , styled 
Co L.al r:anufa ctur · r..g Company . . . . 

John F . Torr ey is to fu r nish the \:ate r powe r 
and building , biving the second and third floors 
and the attic of the ~il l build i ng , also room fo r 
the _appe r and willower , and r elinquishing the 
entir e use the r eof to the Comal Eanufacturing 
Com~any and a gr eeing to keep his building , mill , 
dan , and water power in good r epa ir at his 
expense . 59 

102 

Each of t he three part ne r s was to r ece ive one - third of the 

profit s . he Runges f ur nished ten thousand dollar s in 

specie to purchase ~a chine r y and the use of Torrey ' s mill 

and wate r power const ituted his sha r e of t he pr oject . 

he Runge br othe rs agreed to see to the pur chase and ship­

ment of the ma chiner y . One of t he brothers went to Europe 

to a t tend to this matte r , leav ing from Brownsville about 

ray of l 863 . 61The agreement provided that the company would 

pay the expenses of his trip . In cas e the cost of the 

na chinery and r aw mate ria ls exc eeded the capital a l ready 

59comal County Deed Records , April 20 , 1863 , Vol . G, 
p . 575 . 

60
Ib1d . 

61 Oscar Haas , "Runge off to England to Buy Textile 
Mill Machine r y , 11 New Br aunfels Herald , Febr uar y 5 , 1963 • 
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r aised , the three partners agre ed to sha r e equally any 

add tional cost s . he contr2.ct was for a five - year term 

from the day on which the factory should begin operation . 

At the termination date , the factory was to be sold to the 

highest bidder , and each of the pa rtners would have an equal 

share of the depr eciation of the machinery and in any 

profit s from the sale . Torrey was given the gene r 2. l supe r -
62 _nt ende~ce of the facto r y . 

It is surprising that in wa r time Texas the ca pita l 

for the project could have been raised , but He r mann Seele, 

a re sident of _rew Braunfels during this time , wrote that the 

sale of cotton across the Rio Grande plac ed a large SULl of 

specie dol ars in circula tion in his part of the state . 63The 

wartime emphasis u po~ manufacturing stimulated the New 

Braunfels economy . Other industries were begun besides the 

Torrey - Runge cotton mill , and , according to Seele , there was 
64 no disruption caused by the fall of t he Confederacy . Afte r 

the Civil Wa r had ended it was doubtful whethe r the charter 

62 co~al County Deed Reco r ds , April 20 , 1863 , Vol . G, 
p . 575 . 

63oscar Haas , " Wa r Ends ; Industry Prospe r s Again in 
1866 New Braunfels , " New Braunfels Hera ld , Februar y 12 , 
1963 . 

64 Ibid . 
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granted the Comal ~anufacturing Company by the state 

legis ature was any longe r valid , but the conce r n cont i nued , 

by new agreement , as a priva te pa r tne r ship . 65 

II:lir..ediately after Torrey and the Runges made their 

or igina agreement in 1863 , one of the br othe r s left fo r 

Eur ope to pur chase the necessary ma chinery , but it was 

almost two years later , Februa r y , 1865 , when the machine r y 
66 a rr ived in _'ew Br aunfels . Installation began at once , and 

he facto r y was ready to begin ope r ation in October . 1865 .
67 

Th s textile mill , credited with being the fi r st cotton 

fac or y in the state , 68had tw enty- one l ooms and was capabl e 
69 

of pr oducing seven hur..dred yards of domesti c da i ly . 

mhe cotton f a ctory had been in ope r ation some four 

year s when a rise in the Comal Rive r dama6 ed the buil ding 

and weaving machine r y . Heavy r ains which began on July 4 , 

1869 , caused flood ~ate r to sweep away a wing of the mill 

65comal County Deed Records , Febr ua r y 1, 1866 , Vol . 
B, p . 234 . 

66 eu- Braunfelser Zeitung , Febr uar y 20 , 1865 . 

67 comal County Deed Records , Febr ua r y 1 , 1866 , Vol . 
B, p . 234 . 

68wa l te r P . Webb (ed . ) , et al . , The Handbook of Texas 
(Austin : The Texas State Historical Association , 1952 ) , _II , 
790 ; and John F . Torrey Pape r s (MS . in Ar chives Coll ection , 
University of Texas Library) . 

69.reu- Braunfelser Zeitung , Februar y 20 , 1865 . 
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which ,ms of timbe r construction , and the high water entered. 

he main stone building , covering the weaving looms and 

machinery of the Comal Manufacturing Company . All of the 

flour on hand in the Torrey mill was spoiled . 70T,-;o months 

later , in he late afternoon of September 12 , a tornado 

a c co::.i pa!lied by lightning, thunder , and r a in struck .few 

Braunfels , destroying almost eve r ything in it s path . The 

Comal ~anufacturing Company was one of the targets of the 

ster n : 

The gr eatest loss of all to New Br aunfels is the 
com p ete demolition of John F . Torrey's cotton 
factory . T: e factory building was constructed of 
rock and mortar . It was built at great expense by 
the ente r prising Torrey and was about the staunchest 
piece of masonry in the whole country , but it was 
as nothing in the embrace of the to rnado . 71 

The car ding machines , which weighed several thousand pounds , 

were carried away by the tornado and never found .72 Torrey 

r epaired the mill building , abandoning the seve r ely damaged 

thi r d story and roofing it over at the se cond story . 73Torrey 

continued to use the building fer his mills and cotton 

L . E . 

70Neu- Br aunfelser Zeitung , July 9, 1869 . 

71The Dallas HeTald , Octobe r 2 , 1869 , p . 2 , col . l . 

721 . E. Daniell , Texas the Countr * and It s Men ([n . p~ 
Daniell , Publisher, [n .dJ) , pp . 7 9- 752 . 

73Neu- Br aunfc l ser Zeitung , June 14 , 1872 . 
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74 gins, and , in time, the ma chinery fo r the factory was 

re placed . 

When the textile mill was almost r eady to re sume 

ope rat ior: , it was again st r uck by flood wa ter . 75c1oudbursts 

on June 8 and 9 , 1872 , sent the Comal on a r ampage , washing 

the morrey mill building f r om its foundation . 76The Neu­

Eraunfelse r Zeitun5 r e ported the disaste r: "Torrey's mass ive 

two - sto r y mill building with the newly r eplac ed saw mil l and 

the costly , reconstructed dam77hav e c ompletely disappea r ed . 11 78 

? ve men we r e on the roof of the Torrey mill when the 

79 build i ng collapsed . .r s . Er nest ine Kr etzme i e r Trappe, a 

caid for the ½eusebach family , neighbo r s of t he Torreys at 

4 he time , r elated the stor y of the flood years l ate r , r ecall ­

ing that John Torrey v;as among the five men on the r oof . 

mhe men , she said , had been trapped whil e mov ing gr a in f r om 

74John F . Torrey Deposit ion , .2.£ · cit . , entry 6 ; a~d 
L . E. aniell , Texas the Count ry and Its \' en ([n . p:J L . ~ . 
Daniell, Publisher, [°? · d]), pp . 749- 752 . 

75John F . Torrey Pape r s (MS . in Arch ive s Collection , 
University of Texas Library) . 

761 . E. Daniell , Texas the Countr and It s Men (1n . p J 
L . E. Daniell , Publishe r , n . d . , pp . 7 9- 752 ; John F .'-Torrey 
Pape rs (~S . in Archives Co~ ec ion , Un iver sity of Texas 
Library) ; and Neu- Braunfelscr Zeitung , June 14 , 1872 . 

77 The flood of 1869 must have dama6 cd the dam . 

78_eu- Braunfelsc r Zeitung , June 14 , 1872 . 

79Ibid . 
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the first to the seco~d floor in an attempt to save it , a~d 

had been forced , by rising water , to climb out on the roof . 

Torrey reportedly said that if the mil l washed away , he 

woul go w hit . :rs . Trappe said that while the men were 

trapped on the rocf, -:rs . Torrey went to the Heusebach house 

to ask her to hur ry to a store and get some rope so that 

they might try to save the men by throwing them a line .80 

Howeve r, when the bu lding gave way , the men we r e able to 

sa e thenselves by grasping the telegr aph wir e which crossed 

the Comal ust below the mil1 . 81John Torr ey was saved with 

the others . 

Eermann Runge having died sometime pr eviously , Torrey 

and Henry Runge , in :ay , 1873 , dissolved the par tnership 

because almost all of the property of the Company had been 

destroyed by "var ious calamities , floods and tornado" and 

the partners were unwilling to re - establish the factory .
82 

But Torrey continued to IM.intain his claim to the mills tc , 

possibly hoping to be able to start anew at some future 

time . According to the dissolution agr eement , Runge relin­

quished all the interest that he and his brother had ever 

80 rnformation received from Oscar Haas , local New 
Braunfels historian , in a personal interview . 

81 eu- Braunfelser Zeitung , June 14 , 1872 . 

82 comal County Deed Records , May , 1873 , Vol . L , 
p . 558 . 
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held in the mill site in return for which Torrey t r ansferred 

title to Runge on twenty land certificates issued by the 

Sate of Texas , each for thr ee hundred and twenty acres of 

and . morrey also transferred his headright of one hundred 

and seventy- seven acres of l a nd on the San Jacinto , all 

accounts due the Cooal ~a nufa cturing Company , all of the 

cotton on hand, and all remnants of machinery furnished to 

the enterprise by the Runges . 83 

_orrey bore his losses ''without a mur mur of despond ­

ency or any abateoent of his untiring ene r gy . 1184He left New 

Eraunfels and went to Hood County where he had a public 

land grant which he had located in 1843 at Comanche Peak , 

and there he took up far~ing . 85About twenty yea r s later, 

after a three day illne s s , John Torrey died in December , 

1893 , at the home of his son , Edward _orrey , in San 

86 Antonio . Torrey had spent over fifty of his seventy- seven 

yea r s in Texas . He lived in New Braunfels twenty- six yea r s 

83 _bid . 

84Dallas He r ald , August 31 , 1872 , p . 1 , col . 6 . 
85Koebig , loo . c it . ; John F . Torr ey Papers (M~ . in 

Archives Collection University of Texas) ; L . E. Daniell, 
exas the Country a~d Its 1en ([n . p] L . E. Daniell , 

Publisher , [n . d . ), pp . 749 - 752 . 
86John F . Torrey Papers (MS . in Archives Collection , 

University cf Texas Library) . 



and pioneered in industry in the state with his sas~ and 

blind factory and textile mill . 
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CH.APTER VII 

CO CLUSION 

The adv entur es of homas and James Torrey and the 

business ventur es of David and John Torre y all a r e a part of 

t he histo r y of front e r Texas . James and Thomas Torrey we r e 

r ecognized for the_r se rvic e to Texas with their burial at 

1~onument ~ill . But of great er value to the state than t he 

~ie r and Santa Fe Expeditions , i n which James and Thomas 

serv ed , we r e the contribution to the se t tlement and civili­

zation of the Texas frontie r made by the Torrey Indian trade 

and ea r ly rew Braunfels indust r ies . The pacifica tion of the 

Indians , to which the Indian trade c ontribut ed materially , 

pernit ed the Texans to settle the untamed r egions of the 

state mor e r apidly than would have been possibl e unde r the 

harassment of hostile Indians . The production of goods 

within the state which othe r wise had to be imported with 

gr eat difficulty and expense increased the comforts of the 

settle r ' s life . During the Civ il War the i mportance of this 

industry was r ecoenized by the state gove rnment . 

John Torrey came to Texas in 1838 , es t abl i shed him­

self in Houston , and start ed a me rchand i s i ng firm in which 

he was joined by his brothe r s . The Torreys built the first 

frame buil ding in Houston , which serv ed as a trading house 

for I ndians . They late r moved the center of their Indian 

trade far out on the f r ontier . In Hous ton the brothers me t 
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Sam Houston and be came cl ose l y ass oc iated wi th him , their 

I ndian trade se r ving a useful pur pose in Houston ' s I ndian 

pol i cy . r ade was a pa r t of t he plan f or secur ing a peace 

with the Indians . To minimize f r iction between I ndians and 

settle r s , the state Kas tenpcra r ily div i ded between I ndian 

te rritor y and wh ite man's land , and to pr event the Indians 

fr o~ coming N thin the settlements t o trade , Torrey ' s t r ad ­

i ng house on the Br azos was es t ablished , pr ov i ng quite 

valuable in the control of the I ndians . The post was 

licensed and regulated by the gove r nment and was , fo r 

se er al yea r s , the only place in Texas whe r e the I ndians 

could t r ade legally . he trading house was a pr ofita bl e 

business fo r the brothers but a haza r dous one . Sam Houst on 

pr aised then for the establishment of t his pos t at their own 

expense and at gr eat pe r sonal risk and no t ed that t he pos t 

had been very benefic i al in se cur ing and ma i ntain i ng 

friendly r~l~tions wlth the Indian~ . 

David Torrey made buying tr i ps ba ck Eas t for t he 

orr ey f i r m, and when the expans i on of t he set tl ements drove 

the t r ade r s f ur the r west , he a t tempt ed to es t ablish a new 

t r ade with the Apaches in the southwes t ern par t of the state 

and was killed by that t r ibe . J anes Tor r ey , a ft er a br ief 

se r vice as a soldier figh t ing fo r what he t er med the gl or y 

of his c ount r y , d i ed young , one of t he sev ent een Mier pr is ­

oners who dr ew bla ck beans and we r e exe cut ed . Thomas Torrey 
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joined the Santa Fe Exp ~dition with the intention of estab­

lishing a r eg·lar trade in that area , and w_th the failure 

of ·hat hope , he turned to the Indian trade . ~e served as 

an _ndian ager.. t and .::iade the t r i to the Cor:m.nc~es which was 

the :irst s·ep in ~aking pea c e with that •ribe . ne died 

whi _e on a ri_ up the Brazos , _ocati~g the site fo r a 

trading house , but had he been spared this untimely death , 

the acq_uain•2.nces which he made ;iith the wild tribes on his 

jour ney to the Co~a~ches would have ~ade h:m a valuable 

asset to the Torrey _nd i an trade . 

John Torrey , d~ring h "s early yea r s in Texas , dealt 

in a varie ty of businesses -- the Houston ~e rchand i sing fir~ , 

a jewelry and ~a ch repair business , the Indian trade , cattle 

buy ing , and othe r s . When the day of the I ndian trade r was 

done in Texas , John Torrey pioneer ed in manuf a cturing i n 

exas , establishing the first factory in the state in 1850 

and l ate r , in pa r tne r ship with the Runges , opera ting a l arge 

texti_e factory . Torrey ' s milling business , wh ich he 

ope r ated along with the factories , at its peak included saw, 

grist , flour , and malt mills and cotton gins as wel l . 

orr ey ' s mills and factories suffer ed setba cks from fire , 

flood , and tornado which he overcame , each time r epairing 

and re storing the mill , only to have the entir e mill and 

textile fac~ory washed away by a second floo d in 1872 . John 

F . Torrey , a "wonderfully energeti c , good and useful 
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c · tize e in 1893 . "Honored be the name o"" Torrey 

a o the children of mexas !" 2 

1 
L . E . Daniell , Texas t :1.e Oountr:r and Its ~-:en (~ . p J 

L . E . aniell , Publisher, t_:'1 · dJ) , p . 750 . 
2

John Henry Brown , Indian ~ars and Pionee r s of Texas 
(St . ouis : Jixon- J ones Pr inting Company , Becktold Fri~~ins 
and . fg . Co . Binde r s , L . E . Daniell Publ i sher , [n . d] ), 
p . 95 . 



B:31 :OGRAPHY 



3aLer , D. W. C. 
2.nd Company , 

A . BOOKS 

A Texas Scran- Book . 
- 875 . 

New York : A. S . 3arnes 

Bar nes , harles i. Combats and Conquests of Im~or tal Eeroes . 
San Antonio : Guessaz andFerl et Cowpan~ 1910 . 

:Sates , E. T . 
Cour..tv . 

(ed . ) . Historv and Reminis~enccs cf Denton 
.Dento:;i : ·1c:·itzk.· Company , 1918 . 

3r c·.-m , J ohr. H. History of Texas fro!:1 1685 to 1892 . 
2 vols . St • .:...J uis : Bec}:told ~Co:::pan~ l i:39J . 

Ind~an Wars and Pioneers of Texas . St . Louis : 
.'ixon- Jones Printing Cor;-po.:::y , Eecktold Pr inting ar..d :,Ifg . 
Co . Binders , L . E . Daniell , Publisher , [n . d ~ . 

Life ar..d ~i~es of Henr y S~ith the First American 
Go·ernor of Texas. allas : A .• Al dridge and Company , 
S--cere otypers , Pri~1te rs , and :Binders , 1887 . 

Spee r , "1-lilliaD S . a!:d John 5 . :Br ov;n . Encyc_ onedia of .,_he 
~e 1d ~•.'est . _:ar sh3._l , Te:xas : The United ~tates 
Bio 0 raphical Publish · ng Co~pany , Hodge Jenr..ings Br os ., 
Proprietors , 1881 . 

Dan e_l , L . E . Texas the Cour..try and I ts . len . [n . pJ L . E . 
Janiell , Publisher, [ n . d:J . 

Tynes of Success~ul ien in Tex~s . Austin : E. vcn 
Beeckman , Pr inter , 1890 . 

Eistor y of Texas Togethe r with~ Biogranhical Rister of 
marrant an· .arkor Counties . hicugo : The 
Publishi~g Company , 1895 . 

Howe , Hubert . History of Texas and the or th Mexican 
States . 2 vc l s . San Francis c o : The History Company , 
Publishe r s , 1890 . 

LooI!lis , Joel ?-. • The Santa Fe Pioneers . Nor ma n : University 
of Oklaho~a Press , 1958-. -

Richa r ds o~ , T. C. East Texas I ts History and Its -ia~::e rs -
4 vols . Tew York : Lei;is Historical Publishing Company , 
1940 . 

Sowell , A . J . Range~s and Pionee r s of Texas . San Antonio : 
Sheppar d Br os . and Co ., Pri~tersand Binder s , 1884 . 



117 

Strecke r , John K. 
·o . 3 . ·,·a. co, 

Chronicles of Geo.!'ge Barnard . Vol . XZ:Z I, 
Texas : he Bayl or Bull etin , 1928 . 

Thr all , Eoner S . _ Pictorial ~istory of Texas frow the 
Ear~ies- isits of Euronea~ Aiventurers to ~ ITT9 . 
S-'- . uis : '{ . • ----;;,hc:nps on and Company , HH9 . 

Wa lis , Jonnie L . Sixtv Years en t~e Brazes : 
Letters of :Jr . John ifa.shingtonLockhart . 
?rivately Printed 19)0 . 

The Life ::md 
Los li.::geles: 

~ebb , Walter P . (e . ) , et al . T~e Sandbook of _exas . 
2 vols . Austin : Th9-Texas State Histcrical Association, 
1952 . 

Weyland , L . R . and~ . 1t:ade . P.isto y of Ear_;y_ Favette County . 
-a Grange , ~exas : La Grange Journal Plant , 1936 . 

Wi ba r ger , J . W. Indian Denredat ons in Texas . Austin : 
Hutchings Print:..· g riouse , " t9 . 

~alters , Jaco~ F . I ~son ' s XPn and the ~ier Expedition . 
Houston : he nion _,2. ~.:..or · ~ Bank-;-f927. 

Wortha~ , ~ouis J . 
Co!l'..!Ilonweal h . 

oopany, 1924- . 

!. His~o::-y of Texas f r om Wilderne ss to 
5 rols . Fort v·orth : Wortha:n- holyneaux 

Young , S . O. A Thumbnail~ stor~ of the City of Houston 
Texas frcn Its oundin3 in 1836to the Year 1 912 . 
_ouston : Rein and ~ons Core.any , 1912 . 

B . _1EWS ... APERS 

allas He r ald , A~gust 7 , 1869 -April 3 , 1875 . 

Dallas He r ald , August 7 , 1869 . 

Dallas Herald , October 2 , 1869 . 

D~llas ~erald , Augus t 31 , 1872 . 

~allas P.erald , April 3 , 1875 . 

Neu- 3raunfelser Zeitun~ , February 20 , 1865 - January 27 , 1887 . 

Neu- Eraunfelser Zeitung , February 20 , 1865 . 



e - Er au.nfelser Ze i tun , tUY 9 , 1869 . 

.:.re - Braunfclser Zci.tl!lf; , une _4 , _872 . 

I(oebie; , =:rns~ . 11 e ens _a f Skizze , 11 _';e - Braunfe_~cr 
Zeiti.,;_:_"-S , J2.nu2.ry 27 , 1887 . 

:::.18 

New 3ra~.:e_s Ee:rald , Decer.iber 11 , 1962 - February 5 , 1 963 . 

sco. r :-:aas . 11 John Torrey Fi ured in Local fa.rtimc Econo;.1ic 
S"'"ruggle , 11 rcw :araunfe_s Herald , Decen:ber 11, 1962 . 

11 Torrey 3'.li_d.s Store on Plazc::. , G:rist - Sm-;r :L.l or.. 
o::ial River , " :~e .. 3r aun.:e_s iier..,2.d , Decenber 25 , 1962 . 

11 To!'rey S_gns ·:ri th ::r:igr2. tion Society to Build 
'.:·11 c::: ~c '::Z.l , 11 ::e0.-r :3:r2.un.:els :ie_ .9. _d , Januc.ry 1, 1963. 

11 Ea r ly .'~ill ::as Three 01-:-ne::-s , 11 1Jcnr B::::-2.unfe_s 
Eerc. _d , anv.ary 15 , 1963 . --

11 r::.or-::ey Gr st , Saw Hill Burns in 1861 Fire ; 
Rebu.'..lt in Stcne , 11 _:e ., Braunfels ~er2.ld , January 29 , 
1963 . 

11 Runge Off to England to Buy Text i le Hill 
~•:achine:ry , 11 re1·r Braunfe s Herald , Febr ua r y 5 , 1963 . 

Telegra nh and Texas Register [Eouston] , July 1 , 1840 -
i ebruary 17 , 1 850 . 

_e_egra nh ~ TeY.::::. gegister , July 1 , 1840 . 

Telegranh and Texas Registe:r , January 12 , 1841 . 

'.:'elegra h and Texas Re5ister , De c embe r 8 ' 1841 . 

Telegranh and Tex3.s ReF;;_ste r, r.,.ovembe r 1 6 , 1842 . 

Telegr 2. nh and _exas Reg_ster , Decembe r 7, 1842 . 

Telegranh and Texas _.er;ister , Jovenbcr 6 , H344 . 

Tel~granh and Texas 3.egister , 'fay 28 , 1845 . 

Telegra nh a!ld Texas Register , Januar y 7~ 1846 . 

'Ielegranh and Texas Rer, is te:::- , February 17 , 1850 . 



Jacob ~~ Cor~o!a . 
11 

·ll-l!d er o! Daniel r;=s ic J Torrey by t _ e 
I!lcians , 1e _ egr2. pn and exas Register Janua r y 28 
184 6 . -- ----..c...' ' 

_exas 2.~a t ··o!lal 
8L.:S . 

Reg is ter LJfashing t on , Texas] , Ju.i."le 19 , 

~ex:1s Sta t e Gazette [ ustin] , Februar y 23 , 1 850 . 

'::'l e :·o:t:i~rr: St~ndar d [Clarksville], September 1 4 , 1 84 3 -
lu.y :;: , 11::34-::, • 

The ~orthern Sta ndard: Se ptembe r 14 , 1843 . 

_he j orthe rn Standa r d , February 1 0 , 1844 . 

C. PE::tIOD:CALS 

Koch , Lena C. "'.2he Federal Indian Policy in Texas , 1845 -
1 846," The South1·7estern Histo r ical Qua r terly , XXVIII 
(July , l 924- Apr·1 , 192 5) , 259 - 28 6 . 

119 

r:cClendon , R. Ea r l . "Daniel Webste r and Mexican Relations : 
The Santa Fe Prisoners , " The Southwestern Histor ical 
Quarterly , XX.XVI (1932 - 19TI1" , 268 - 311 . 

1!.uckleroy , Anna . 11 The Indian Policy of the Republic of 
,,.,exas , " _-:ne Southwestern Historical Qua r terly, XXVI 
(1922 - 1 923) , 1 - 29 . 

Webb , ·,falter P . "The Last Tr eaty of t he Republic of Texas," 
The Southwesterr.. Historical Qua rte rly. XXV (January , 
1922) , 155- 173 . 

D. EN CYCLOPEDIA ARTICLES 

" John Torrey ( 1796- 1873) , " Encyclo naed i a Americana ( 1963 ) , 
XX II , 309 . 

"Reuben Ar cher Torrey (1856 - 1 928 ) , 11 Encyclopaedia Ame ricana 
(1963) , XXII , 309- 310 . 



E . ?RLVJ.ARY SOURCES 

Co_lec~ed Documents and ~etters 

Wi_lians , Amelia T. and Eugene C. Barker (eds . ) . 
~-;ri tini:-:: s cf Sam Houston 1813-1863 . 8 vols . 
'ni-ersity of Texas Press , 1943 . 

_:1.e 
Austin : 

120 

· ,Hnf r e' , Dor!:lan H . (ed . ) • Texas Indian Fa pe rs , 182 5-184 3. 
~st L : Texas State Library, 19b . 

'.:'exas Indian Pa ers 1844- 18l~5 . Aus tin : Texas 
State Li·rar~~5o . 

Texas Ind an Paners , 18il6- 1859 . Aus tin : Texas 
S~ate L~bra ry, 19:~. 

Jo nals 

Green , Tho8as J . Journal of the Texian Expedition Against 
_:ier . New Yor~ : liarper and Brothers , Publisher , 1845 . 

Kenda_l , George 1 . ~ rra tive of the Texan Santa Fe 
Expedition . 2 vo2.s . c~-T Yor k : Harper and Br othe rs , 
Publ'shers , 1356 . 

Olms~ ead , Freder ick L . ~ Journey Through Texas . New York : 
·ason Brothers , 1861 . 

von P..oeI!le r , Ferdinand . Roemer ' s Texas . Tr ans . Oswald 
!ueller . San Antonio : Standar d Printing Company , 1935 . 

Stn.P , l llie.m P . The F:-:- :-:io ners of Pe ote: A Journal Kent 
.!?J. the kithor , ilia .. 2. s C2. nt ured El. the iiexicans at f.rier 
Dece mber Q , 1842 , a nd Re l eased from Perote May lb,-~ 
18il4 . Ph ~l adelp~ia : G. B. ~iebe r and Company , 1845 . 



C'.:1i:=::P. SOl.7-CES 



122 

ohn F . orrey Papers (r·s . in Archives Collection , 
ni ersi~ of mexas L brary) . 

_ ffida it of ames Torrey's Service on ~ ier Expedition 
( rchi es _ ision , exas State Library , Austin) . 

Execut _ve Record Book o . 40 (Texas State L brary , Austin) . 

Depos ton o: John F . LOrrey _n case of C emens , Blum , and 
Run.,e . Landa, Decenber 10, 1882 ( Osc8. r Haas rchives, 
re·,·r 3raur.fels) . 

etter from ohn F . Torrey to Joseph Faust, October 20 , 
1886 , ( scar :Iaas Archives rew Braunfels) . 

orrey a i Documents ( ,• rs . Curt is T. a ughan , San 
ntonio) . 

B_r th Records , To·"n of Ashford ;:arrenville, Connecticut , 
1815- 833 , 

.~arria e Records , own o: shfo:rd , v arrenville , Connecticut, 
1815 . 

Comal County Probate File o . 103 , Februar y 11 , 1852 . 

Co!I!2.l County rlar r _age Records , December 10 , 1851. 

CoI!lal County Deed Records , lay , 1847 - May 1873 , vols . A, B, 
E , G , L , and P . 



Vita was removed during scanning


	Blank Page



